

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Effective Strategies to Reduce Information Overload in the Workplace

Calvin McDowall Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Calvin McDowall

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Daniel Smith, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty Dr. David Moody, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvonne Doll, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Effective Strategies to Reduce Information Overload in the Workplace

by

Calvin McDowall

MBA, Trident University, 2014

BS, Thomas Edison College, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2022

Abstract

Healthcare organizations may incur significant costs from information overload on employees. The high workload and information overload in healthcare can increase burnout, stress, depression, and aggression and reduce productivity and motivation. Grounded in cognitive load theory conceptual framework, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies operational healthcare leaders in the Southeast region of the United States used to reduce information overload in the workplace. Data were collected through phone conferencing from semistructured interviews with five leaders and a focus group discussion with three leaders working in a healthcare organization. Four themes emerged from the thematic data analysis: use of different communication methods, breaks from information, providing information in bits, and observation of employee countenance. A key recommendation for operational leaders is to increase communication through employee forums and dialogues. The implications for positive social change include the potential to develop efficient work environments, enhance innovation, improve productivity, increase employee retention, and provide job sustainability.

Effective Strategies to Reduce Information Overload in the Workplace

by

Calvin McDowall

MBA, Trident University, 2014

BS, Thomas Edison College, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2022

Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to the Almighty God above for His love, guidance, blessings, and for giving me the knowledge, patience, and understanding to complete this doctoral program.

First, I dedicate this study to my mother, Zena McDowall, for her sacrifice, patience, prayers, and unfailing love which enabled me the opportunity to achieve this goal.

Second, I dedicate this to study to my first mentor, role model, and grandfather, William McDowall, whose legacy I aim to exceed and honor for a lifetime.

Third, I dedicate this study to my siblings, Fernando Jackson, Mike Jackson, Roselee St. Germain, and Jeff Mathis, for their prayers and support in achieving this goal.

Lastly, I dedicate this degree to my amazing children, Chelsie Jackson, Alexis Jackson, Kendol Jackson, Isaiah McDowall, and Nathaniel McDowall. Thank you for your support and patience throughout this doctoral journey. Remember to always cultivate a very positive mind and make no excuses for living your purpose.

Acknowledgments

I wish to acknowledge my doctoral committee members for their outstanding professional support in this doctoral program. I extend my gratitude to Dr. Daniel Smith, my committee chair and mentor, for his outstanding support, patience, mentorship, and timely feedback.

To Dr. David Moody, my second committee member, thank you for your perspective and helping me grow as a scholar. I appreciate your constructive feedback and quick responses when reviewing my doctoral study. I also wish to express gratitude to Dr. Greg Uche for insightful review and positive recommendations of my work.

Table of Contents

List of Tables5
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question
Interview Questions
Conceptual Framework
Operational Definitions7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations9
Significance of the Study 10
Contributions to Business Practice10
Implications for Social Change10
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature11
Organization of the Literature Review12
Cognitive Load Theory (CLT)14

Contrasting Theory	
Information-Communication Technologies	
Healthcare Industry as a Business	
Causes of Information Overload	
Consequences of Information Overload	
Stress 36	
Burnout	
Safety Issues	
Employee Performance	
Information Overload and Decision-Making in Business	
Healthcare Leader's Role in Change	
Multitasking	
Transition	
Section 2: The Project	48
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	
Participants	51
Participants Research Method and Design	51
Participants Research Method and Design Research Method	51 52 52
Participants Research Method and Design Research Method Research Design	51 52 52 53
Participants Research Method and Design Research Method Research Design Population and Sampling	

Data Saturation and Sampling	56
Data Collection Instruments	58
Data Collection Technique	59
Data Organization Technique	61
Data Analysis	
Reliability and Validity	64
Validity	65
Confirmability	65
Transferability	66
Credibility	66
Data Saturation	66
Transition and Summary	67
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	68
Introduction	68
Presentation of the Findings	68
Theme 1: Use of Different Communication Methods	69
Theme 2: Breaks From Information	71
Theme 3: Providing Information in Bits	73
Theme 4: Observation of Employee Countenance	74
Applications to Professional Practice	75
Implications for Social Change	76
Recommendations for Action	77

References		
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	122	
Appendix B: Interview Questions	123	

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of Sources in the Literature Review	
Table 2. Frequency of Themes Identifying Strategies to Reduce Employee	Information
Overload	

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Exploring strategies healthcare leaders use to reduce information overload on employees may help in addressing the problem of burnout, stress, decreased productivity, and turnover cost within healthcare organizations. The growth of information provides unprecedented opportunities for organizations. However, the abundance of information could result in increased competition for attention of the user (Van Knippenberg et al., 2015). The impact of information overload has implications on the health of employees and the turnover of healthcare organizations. Researchers found burnout in healthcare workers could have an adverse effect on their well-being and patient care, increase turnover, and destabilize the workforce (Shanafelt et al., 2017). In an average organization with 200 physicians, the turnover and reduced hours cost the organization approximately \$1.5 million per year (Dyrbye et al., 2019). Operational leaders in organizations need to implement strategies to reduce information overload and minimize the cost to the organization.

Background of the Problem

The modern technological era is a unique period of history in which information overload is possible because of exposure to many new sources of information and technology (Benselin & Ragsdell, 2016). Sources of information overload can result in increased stress (Florea & Florea, 2016), burnout (Bonneville & Grosjean, 2016), and reduced employee performance (Chiu et al., 2015). The presence of information overload on employees affects every business organization. Benselin and Ragsdell (2016) found information overload constitutes a phenomenon among many professions. The healthcare industry is no exception to this phenomenon. The workload in healthcare is very high, and more than 60% of physicians and clinical staff in the United States report a high level of burnout, leading to high turnover for organizations (Willard-Grace et al., 2019). High demand along with information overload results in burnout, stress, and loss of motivation (Couto et al., 2019; Saleem et al., 2015). Effective strategies implemented as a daily practice may reduce the demands and information overload on employees.

Technology, time pressures, workload, information overload, and reduced productivity have major implications in adding costs to an organization (Benselin & Ragsdell, 2016). Healthcare operation leaders need to understand what strategies they can implement to reduce information overload, burnout, stress, and the turnover cost to their organization. Therefore, in this study, I explored effective strategies operational leaders in the healthcare industry used to reduce information overload on employees.

Problem Statement

Information overload is increasingly prevalent and frustrating to employees in the workplace (Yin et al., 2018, pp. 1189, 1195). In an effort to retaliate against management's continued efforts to expose employees to information overload, disgruntled employees spend approximately 30% to 50% of the workday conducting personal business instead of focusing on work-related tasks (Borkovich & Skovira, 2017, p. 153). The general business problem is employees in the healthcare industry constantly face information overload during daily business operations reducing their productivity. The specific business problem is healthcare industry operational leaders lack strategies to reduce employee information overload.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. The target population consisted of eight healthcare industry operational leaders from one organization located in the Southeast region of the United States with successful experience in reducing employee information overload. The implications for positive social change included efficient work environments, which may decrease turnover, enhance innovation, improve productivity, increase employee retention, and provide for job sustainability, as well as alleviate employee stressors and emotional exhaustion, improving the overall quality of life for employees and their families.

Nature of the Study

I chose the qualitative method to explore strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. Researchers use the quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methods approach to conduct research (Edmunds & Kennedy, 2017). Researchers use the qualitative research method to get an in-depth understanding of peoples 'attitudes, reasons, behaviors, and actions (Rosenthal, 2016). The justification for using the qualitative method stems from the need to understand the effective strategies operational leaders use to reduce information overload on employees. Barnwell (2015) and Richardson (2014) used the qualitative method to explore strategies used to improve employee performance in the workplace. Researchers use the quantitative method to examine numerical data for testing hypotheses and analyze variables (Saunders et al., 2016). I did not use the quantitative method for this study because implementing

effective strategies to reduce employee information overload does not require testing variables 'relationships through numerical data. Researchers use the mixed method approach to collect and analyze both qualitative and quantitative data (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2014; Turner et al., 2017). The mixed method was not appropriate for the study because there is no need to test hypotheses about relationships or differences between groups or variables through analysis of statistical data.

Four qualitative research designs considered for this study included the case study, narrative, ethnography, and phenomenological design. Researchers use an exploratory single case study design to gain an in-depth and real-life understanding of a phenomenon by collecting data from a variety of sources, including documents, archival records, interviews, direct observations, participant observations, and physical artifacts (Rule & John, 2015; Yin, 2018). I used a single case study design because it allowed the exploration of the real-life situations of information overload in the workplace.

A narrative research design was not applicable for this study because, as Yin (2018) stated, the narrative research design is more appropriate for researchers seeking to understand the lives of individuals told through participants 'life stories. Researchers use the ethnographic research design to focus on culture-sharing of a group, exploring the culture of its members (Cincotta, 2015; Morgan-Trimmer & Wood, 2016). The ethnographic research design was not appropriate for this study because the focus of this study is not on culture-sharing of a group. Researchers use the phenomenological research design when focusing on people-in-society settings and identifying participants ' personal perceptions of their own life experiences with phenomena (Butina, 2015;

Jarzabkowski et al., 2015). The phenomenological research design was not an appropriate design because the purpose of this study was not to focus on the personal meanings of participants 'perceptions of their own life experiences.

Researchers use a case study design to understand the how, what, and why of a phenomenon from various viewpoints (Manley et al., 2016). A researcher who focuses on understanding the "why" question in more than one case and constructs a comprehensive picture of the phenomena engages in a multiple case study (Yin, 2018). A researcher, however, may not be able to commit the time or afford the extensive resources required for a multiple case study. One of the rationales for using a single study is a common case, which involves the observation of common everyday situations and conditions where limitation may be evident between phenomenon and context (Harrison & Mills, 2016; Yin, 2018). A single case study design was an appropriate approach for the study because it allowed the exploration of the common everyday situation of information overload in the workplace.

Research Question

What strategies do healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload?

Interview Questions

- 1. From your experience, what symptoms do employees exhibit from information overload?
- 2. What methods do you use to recognize information overload on employees?

- 3. What strategies have you implemented to reduce employee information overload?
- 4. How did you address the key challenges to implementing your strategies for mitigating information overload in your organization?
- 5. How is the failure and success of strategies for mitigating information overload measured?
- 6. What strategies failed to mitigate the impact of employee information overload circumstances?
- 7. Based on your experiences, why did they fail?
- 8. What strategies were most successful in mitigating the impact of employee information overload?
- 9. Based upon your experiences, why were they successful?
- 10. What additional information would you like to provide about organizations strategies for reducing employee information overload I have not already asked?

Conceptual Framework

I chose the cognitive load theory (CLT) as the conceptual framework for this study. Cleland and Durning (2015) postulated CLT to address conditions where people must contend with a heavy information-processing load. Sweller (1988) developed CLT out of the study of problem-solving, after recognizing Miller (1956) informationprocessing research. Sweller noted CLT addresses the limited capacity of the working memory of an individual and stated the human mind has unlimited storage capacity for long-term memory. At any given time, only a few discrete items are processed and stored by the working memory of an individual. Cognitive load is the combination of three sources called intrinsic cognitive load (ICL), extraneous cognitive load (ECL), and germane cognitive load (GCL; Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015; Sweller, 1988).

Park et al. (1999) posited the demands of life affect the cognitive performance of an individual. Researchers in the areas of psychology and organizational sciences suggested due to the limited capacity of humans, information received that exceeds their capacity reduces performance in the individual (Miller, 1956; Simon, 1971). Allocation of attention will result in one of the several states of activation for the information contained within the working memory (D'Esposito & Postle, 2015). The CLT is potentially relevant to this study because successful operational leaders may provide insights into managing strategies to effectively leverage the limited capacity of employees 'working memory.

Operational Definitions

The definition of terms are as follows:

Cognitive load: Cognitive load is the working memory required during the process of solving a complex task or learning new information, and comprised of intrinsic load, extraneous load, and germane load (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015; Sweller, 1988).

Information overload: Information overload occurs when an individual has received an abundance of information and achieves a level where they are incapable of processing the information (Eppler & Mengis, 2004).

Information-communication technologies: Information-communication technologies includes electronic communication tools (e.g., faxes, email, or instant messaging), electronic conferencing tools, social networking tools, and collaborative work management tools (Bonneville & Grosjean, 2016; Oldham & Da Silva, 2015).

Schema: Schema are elements or chunks of organized information (Miller, 1956).

Technostress: Technostress is a negative psychological state that is spiraling and results in deterioration to current or future use of technology (Salanova et al., 2014).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are a researcher's perspective of all research efforts seen as facts prior to verification of its theoretical validity (Schoenung & Dikova, 2016). In this study, there were four assumptions. The first assumption was all participants in the study would provide honest and accurate responses to the questionnaire and interview questions. The second assumption was all participants were successful in using the strategies to reduce employee information overload. The third assumption was all participants in the study answered questions voluntarily and were not influenced by others. The fourth assumption was the interviews and focus group are the best method to collect the data.

Limitations

Yin (2018) posited limitations are potential gaps in methodology of the study. Limitations are external factors represented as barriers to the research method employed and can have a negative effect on the study's believability. Limitations are not within a researcher's control and are unavoidable. A researcher must ensure the reliability and validity of their research methods follow accepted processes and used as designed (Leedy & Ormrod, 2010; Singh, 2015). The first limitation was participants may not have the knowledge on all strategies. The second limitation was the selected organization may not have the experiences shared among like businesses. The third limitation was some participants used only a portion of the company's strategies. The fourth limitation was the sample size was constrained to front-line leaders who are not as experienced in these strategies as senior leaders in the organization.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the boundaries of the conscious exclusionary and inclusionary choices made by the researcher during the scope of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The choices include the type of research questions to ask, the objectives of the study, and the theoretical perspectives used in the study (Simon & Goes, 2013). Asanda et al. (2016) asserted delimitations can provide researchers a manageable amount of data for research analysis and interpretation. The delimitations were the sample size, the target area, and the geographical area. The sample size consisted of eight healthcare industry leaders who used mitigation strategies in reducing information overload on their employees. The target population included operational leaders having a minimum of 2 years of experience in the healthcare industry. The geographical area chosen was the Southeast area of the United States.

Significance of the Study

Contributions to Business Practice

The potential beneficiaries of the findings of this study are leaders of large organizations seeking to enhance performance in a competitive business environment. These organizational leaders could provide information or knowledge support in healthcare or logistics. Corporate information overload causes paralytic culture shock reducing the efficiency of an employee at work (Borkovich & Skovira, 2017). From a psychological perspective, the most frequent symptoms are stress and exhaustion (Reinke & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2014). Managing work-related stress is key for any organization trying to reduce the health issues in the workplace (Mellor et al., 2013). Findings contributing to reducing employee stress and exhaustion may translate into increasing operational efficiencies and enhanced financial performance.

Implications for Social Change

Individuals with information overload could experience a variety of challenges such as exhaustion, burnout, poor decision-making, impaired judgment, and lower productivity (Van Knippenberg et al., 2015). Bonneville and Grosjean (2016) asserted burnout and distress exist among healthcare professionals. Business leaders may use the result of this study to develop and execute strategies to bring positive changes to their employees, helping to alleviate their stressors and emotional exhaustion and to indirectly affect social change in the community by improving the overall quality of life for employees and their families.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This section includes a review of professional and academic literature. A review of the literature is imperative to enable enrichment and insight to the research study. Marshall and Rossman (2016) posited a literature review support a researcher's argument in the study. The purpose of this qualitative single-case explorative study was to explore strategies some healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. Literature related to information overload provided support for the basis of this study.

The research may contribute to strategies organizational leaders use when dealing with their respective healthcare organizations and help to navigate the heavy demands placed upon employees. Researchers suggest information overload contribute to both stress and exhaustion (Reinke & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2014). Mellor et al. (2013) posited a relationship exist between work related stress, poor health outcomes, and sickness absences. Marinaccio et al. (2013) recognized a correlation between work-related stress risk factors and physical health outcomes. To ensure implementation of strategies, leaders need to engage employees within their organization. Leaders play a significant role in the formation and effective implement of organizational strategies (Jabbar & Hussein, 2017). The findings of this study on strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload may help limit the impact of work-related stress and health concerns.

Organization of the Literature Review

The organization of the literature review contains analysis and synthesis of various components of published research related to strategies successful healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. Some components of the literature I addressed are CLT, concepts of working memory, and relevant and contrasting theories. I explored information overload effect on various businesses, covering the causes and consequences of information overload. Finally, I explored literature on hospitals as a business and the impact of information overload on the hospital employees.

The primary strategy for searching the literature was to identify significant key words and relevant ideas available in electronic databases, examine each material for credibility, limit the scope of research through selection of only pertinent information related to the study, and review current advances in the field providing significance to the research. The key search words I used to search the literature and help explore the research question includes the following: *business intelligence, business and problem solving, decision-making, healthcare industry, healthcare industry as a business, information overload factors, information overload, information overload and burnout, information overload factors, information overload and productivity, information overload and employee performance, information overload and productivity, information overload and safety information overload and workplace efficiency, information leadership theory, systems theory, multitasking, working memory, working memory capacity, management strategies, information glut, and healthcare leaders.*

The literature review contains analysis and synthesis of published research comprising of both current and seminal peer-reviewed research on the conceptual framework of CLT. The primary sources are scholarly peer-reviewed articles found in the following databases: ProQuest, Thoreau, EBSCOhost, Google Scholar, Academy of Management, Emerald Insight, JSTOR, SAGE journals, Science Direct, Springer Link, Taylor & Francis Online, Walden Online Library, and other online sources. I presented all information in an organized manner. The literature review draws mostly from peerreviewed journal articles. However, the literature review also drew from seminal books and dissertations. The period of literature under review consisted mainly of literature drawn from 2016 to 2019. However, literature from earlier periods when considered foundational and of particular importance were also a part of the literature review. The literature reviewed for this study totaled 136 relevant sources to support the research question, method, and design of the study. There were 55 (40%) relevant peer-reviewed sources published in 2017 or later. The remaining 81 (60%) relevant peer-reviewed articles were from before 2017 (see Table 1).

Table 1

Reference type	Total	< 5 yr	> 5 yr
Peer-reviewed articles	125	46	79
Dissertations	2	2	2
Published books	9	7	2
Totals	136	55	81

Summary of Sources in the Literature Review

In this literature review, I outlined the outcomes of information overload and the leadership theories employed to address employee management. The literature resources are organized under the following topics: (a) CLT, (b) contrasting theory, (c) information-communication technologies, (d) healthcare industry as a business, (e) information overload and decision making in business, (f) healthcare leader's role in change, (g) multitasking, (h) causes of information overload, and (i) consequences of information overload.

Cognitive Load Theory (CLT)

This section begins with a discussion of CLT and the separate ways earlier researchers applied the theory. Roetzel (2018) described CLT as one of the most-used theories as a conceptual framework model for research related to information overload. Sweller (1988) developed CLT out of the study of problem-solving. Sweller noted CLT is a limited capacity of the working memory of the human mind. The human memory is divided into working memory and long-term memory with unlimited storage capacity. At any given time, only a few discrete items are processed and stored by the working memory. The information stored in long-term memory takes the form of schemas, and therefore, the processing of new information results in cognitive load on working memory (Sweller, 1988). In the workplace, the average employee faces a plethora of resource-consuming tasks in the environment, representing a significant source of cognitive load (Gilbert & Osborne, 1989). CLT is the conceptual framework for understanding the impact of information overload on employees and how it can help operational leaders create and implement strategies to alleviate the impact of information overload on employees.

Iskander (2018), Parte et al. (2018), and Yin et al. (2018) applied CLT in three different ways: (a) knowledge workers in the workplace, (b) financial accounting and reporting, and (c) physician burnout. Yin et al. conducted a study using CLT as part of a comprehensive conceptual model to understand the direct impact information overload has on knowledge workers in the workplace. The study included data collected from a sample of 178 employees working in China. The researchers found the impact of information overload significantly reduced job satisfaction, while interruption overload did not impact job satisfaction. Yin et al. concluded increasing information could contribute to people experiencing information overload. Operational leaders need to understand the impact of information overload on their employees.

Researchers applied CLT framework to financial accounting and reporting. Parte et al. (2018) took a slightly different approach and applied CLT in financial accounting and reporting to ascertain how individuals conceptualize and process financial information. Additionally, Parte et al. examined whether international business financial presentation formats provided relevancy for understanding financial information. Efficient financial reporting is an essential factor in improving international business (Parte et al., 2018). The researchers concluded CLT may alleviate some of the issues in the level of details for a presentation, presentation of individual financial statements, and help both sophisticated and unsophisticated users to develop a greater understanding of financial information for decision-making (Parte et al., 2018). Similarly, CLT may help leaders understand how information presentation can cause information overload on employees.

Iskander (2018) used CLT as a framework to gain insight into the burnout of physicians. Iskander posited cognitive load occurs when an individual experienced the overall burden of task-specific demands, various sensory, psychological, and emotional factors. Iskander concluded when the emotional investment, consistently high demands, and personal stress reach or exceed the cognitive load capacity, the physician may exhibit cognitive overload symptoms. The symptoms may vary from an increased rate of errors to a more subtle sign of a decrease in communication skills. Iskander recommended the inclusion of metacognitive training in medical students 'curricula to minimize cognitive overload and physician's burnout. Metacognitive skills could protect doctors from burnout because this executive cognitive function serves to integrate and evaluate information and actions taken (Iskander, 2018). By implementing effective strategies, operation leaders can reduce the cognitive overload on employees and minimize burnout.

Applying CLT as the conceptual framework to this study allows for the exploration of some strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. Young et al. (2016) asserted CLT helps identify different factors that impose unnecessary load on a task. Researchers use sources of CLT to gain a deeper understanding of the limited resources of the working memory. The cognitive load framework combines three sources called ICL, ECL, and GCL (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015; Sweller, 1988). Leaders must understand the impact of these sources on the individual employee who experiences information overload while on the job.

ICL is one of the three sources of CLT. ICL is the lack of development or incompleteness of a person's cognitive schemas when faced with new information they are about to learn. ICL is dependent on the individual, their experience in a particular area, and the process in which they learn (Sweller, 1988). Hultberg et al. (2018) asserted the level of element interactivity, the complexity, and the nature of the task determines ICL. An element is any piece of information that needs learning. There are low-element and high-element interactivity representing the number of elements in the working memory. An example of low-element interactivity is the learning of basic facts serially and separately. High-element interactivity is a task processed simultaneously to facilitate learning or understanding (Hultberg et al., 2018). The levels of element interactivity exist in the workplace and are present in various learning activities, such as understanding new concepts or learning new tasks.

The workplace is a learning environment where employees can experience changes to their intrinsic load, which can lead to information overload. Mancinetti et al. (2019) noted in a clinical work environment, clinical leaders encounter many situations that leads to educating medical trainees. Learning opportunities are a job resource that stimulates intrinsic and extrinsic motivational processes, resulting in higher employee engagement and job performance (Idris et al., 2015). Learning in the workplace is vital to strategic competitiveness for any organizations (Manuti et al., 2015). It is not natural for learning to occur inside the mind automatically; it is heavily dependent upon two factors: (a) the manner of presentation of information, and (b) the degree of intricacy of the new information presented for processing (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015). Parte et al. (2018) found reducing the complexity of the material presented to the individual reduced intrinsic load. Leaders need to optimize strategies to reduce the intrinsic load on employees.

ECL is a second source of CLT not essential to a task engaged by an individual. ECL is the load triggered by the manner or environment of the presented task to the individual (Sweller, 1988). Such an opportunity is unnecessary tasks or redundant information. Texts or visual presentations manipulate ECL (Hultberg et al., 2018; Sweller & Chandler, 1994). Parte et al. (2018) examined extraneous load to understand how participants are affected by the presentation of information and whether the information can affect their decision-making capacity. Parte et al. focused their study on improving extraneous load through enhancing and simplifying the presentation of financial information. Reducing the complexity of the extraneous load impacted the reduction of the intrinsic and extraneous load. When ECL is at a minimum and ICL at an excessive high administration, the result is a high overall cognitive load or a cognitive overload condition (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015). The more the working memory capacity is necessary to accommodate the information presented to an individual, the less working memory capacity available for the ICL (Sweller & Chandler, 1994). Young et al. (2016) posited both intrinsic and extraneous are additive. An employee is unable to function effectively with an exceeded working memory capacity. Reducing the complexity of the information presented can alleviate cognitive overload and positively impact an individual's decision-making capacity.

GCL is the third source of CLT. GCL assists in the building process and automation of schemas and is effective in processing information (Hultberg et al., 2018). Parte et al. (2018) and Mancinetti et al. (2019) conducted a study to examine how germane load enables learners to process information in their cognitive load capacity. GCL is a distinct cognitive load that is a deliberate engagement in cognitive processes and in memorizing new information, along with bolster of learning (Hu et al., 2017; Sweller et al., 1998). GCL assists in learning new skills and information because it automates the process by which a person integrates current information. Everyone has schemas and scripts for various routines, from interacting with people to engaging with the latest information. GCL helps individuals anticipate how to react to the information presented and anticipates how to engage with it, which is particularly helpful when presented with added information. GCL is particularly essential when encountering the latest information since there is no existing schema to interpret it. In its capacity, GCL indicates the expectation of the newly presented information, helping individuals anticipate how to engage with it (Hu et al., 2017; Hultberg et al., 2018). Leaders need to understand how GCL enables their employees to process information and its impact on their cognitive load capacity.

Working memory is a dynamic processing system and essential component of CLT. It proficiently retains and manipulates small quantities of information to facilitate planning, problem-solving, comprehending, and reasoning (Cowan, 2017). The idea behind information processing is the human brain operates in the capacity as a computer to process, store, and receive information and create feedback responses from the information processed (Gurbin, 2015; Miller, 1956; Wong et al., 2015). Current literature indicates there is a relationship between working memory resources and CLT. In healthcare, Young et al. (2016) applied CLT in the learning and performance of patient transfer from one physician to another by managing working memory resources. The overall goal of patient transfer is to create a mutually shared mental model between the giver and receiver responsible for the patient's care (Young et al., 2016). In patient transfer, Young et al. found the amount of working memory engaged equals the sum of the three types of cognitive load: intrinsic, extraneous, and germane. Understanding working memory is appropriate for this study because the three types of cognitive loads can consume working memory.

Tremblay et al. (2016) suggested a work environment filled with distractors can consume working memory resources. When working memory is overloaded, it prevents new information from connecting with previous knowledge (Pacauskas & Rajala, 2017). Sweller et al. (2011) asserted working memory is the primary structure that facilitates the information coming in from the environment. At any given time, the working memory can process no more than two to three items of new information (Sweller et al., 2011). If an individual must process additional information, their working memory processing capacity overloads, resulting in memory system break down.

Young et al. (2016) posited when an individual's attention identifies sensory information, the information enters the domain of their working memory. The working memory, therefore, efficiently organizes or reorganizes the information into storage in long-term memory. The sensory and long-term memory can deal with large volumes of information, but the working memory is minimal in comparison (Cowan, 2016; Young et al., 2016). Long-term memory holds a large amount of information, but an individual is only conscious of a tiny portion of information at any given time (Sweller et al., 2011). At any time, the working memory holds a small portion of information, and the remainder lies unconscious until transferred into working memory (Sweller et al., 2011). Leaders should engage in strategies that accurately present information without overloading an individual's working memory. When individuals receive too much at once, they are unable to retain the information.

The working memory is limited in capacity and duration. Working memory holds new information for a few seconds before losing it, and after 20 seconds, almost no information remains (Sweller et al., 2011). For example, if new information received is processed as part of an explanation or problem and not processed almost immediately, no information remains. The loss may severely hinder comprehension or problem-solving. It is vital to rehearse the new material, which aids in transforming it into long-term memory (Sweller et al., 2011). The overload dilemma affects the teaching of complex material and higher-order thinking. Complex learning tasks, such as problem-focused learning, can cause overload for students or employees and result in ineffective information processing and storing. Using collaborative tasks, both in the study and working environments, can enhance working memory by sharing the task impact on the working memory of students or employees. Collaboration can facilitate higher-order learning and problem-solving without the danger of cognitive overload (Sweller et al., 2011). Due to working memory limited in capacity and duration, cognitive overload can occur in employees if organizations do not engage in appropriate strategies to address it.

Managing the working memory improves performance. Two groups of researchers conducted studies on the role of attention in managing working memory function and found it leads to a higher degree of performance (Chow & Conway, 2015; Shipstead et al., 2015). Such studies provide insights into management strategies to effectively leverage the limited capacity of employees 'working memory and improve work performance. Shipstead et al. (2015) used two data sets to study two aspects of working memory: visual array tasks, and attention control. The researchers found visual arrays and complex span equally influenced variances in fluid intelligence and both of these working memory tasks displayed significant links to attention control. Shipstead et al. concluded attention control is critical in working memory capacity irrespective of the task type. In this study, I explored strategies some operational leaders use to manage working memory function and improve employee performance.

Working memory is a limited form of memory, and the limit on the amount of information held in working memory is known as working memory capacity (WMC). Often, WMC measures include an individual's ability to recall random collections of words, digits, or letters (Sweller et al., 2011). Oberauer et al. (2016) examined WMC and determined multiple explanations for explaining the decay of information but some of these assumptions have better explanative power than others. These explanations include verbal, resource, and interference-based views. Verbal memoranda assume that preventing rehearsal of information has an additive effect and impacts memory outcomes, while the resource-based view assumes processing two tasks at once will impact memory (Oberauer et al., 2016). However, the researchers indicated decay did not have a sufficient role in explaining retention; instead, a combination of interference and resource limitations led to working capacity limits. In other words, affecting the limit of the WMC of an individual is not by one source but two sources.

Emotions may have an interference role in WMC. Moran (2016) reported anxiety restricts WMC because it competes with processes more relevant to the task an individual engages in. Moran provided a meta-analysis that drew upon 22,061 individuals using self-reported measures indicating anxiety consistently associated with poor performance in WMC. Moran also reported experiments included anxiety, whether naturally arising or induced, lead to poor performance on multiple kinds of tasks. Consequently, emotional states seemed to play a role in WMC. Therefore, an individual's emotional state of mind affects how they manage information overload in the workplace.

The ability to suppress salient distractors also connects to WMC. Gaspar et al. (2016) noted salient distractors predicted inadequate assessments of WMC. These researchers indicated visual working memory functioned slightly different from other forms of working memory and humans typically remembered three to four visual objects for a short period. Gaspar et al. found low-ability individuals could not prevent distractors from capturing their attention, but high-ability individuals maintained a close focus on their task. Therefore, the ability to dedicate attention to working memory is also associated with retention (Gaspar et al., 2016). According to the researchers, training

addresses the visual working memory would be vital in helping increase an individual's working memory.

Working memory is not entirely static. In a study of both humans and nonhuman primates, Constantinidis and Klingberg (2016) found changes in connectivity between the prefrontal cortex and the parietal cortex are related to WMC. In the study, imaging of the brain indicated training helped improve the connectivity between these two parts of the brain and dopaminergic transmission could facilitate interaction between these parts of the brain, leading to improvements in WMC. Nonhuman subjects (i.e., rodents and monkeys) completed most of the working memory training, and a correlation established with human subjects (Constantinidis & Klingberg, 2016). Training is one means of improving WMC within the workplace. Effective training measures to increase employees' working memory are necessary to lower the information overload of employees.

Learners process information differently and one type of training does not fit all individuals. Given the importance of working memory to learning, since immediate information processing is a requirement for learning, it is also essential extraneous information does not present interference with the working memory process (Constantinidis & Klingberg, 2016). In contrast, Cowan (2016) noted it is not easy to isolate working memory for training and the popular training approaches do not benefit all learners. Learning tasks impact the WMC of learners and teachers, and the limitations in one may influence the other. Cowan pleaded for higher tolerance for differences in recipients' working memory and for further research to find more effective ways to
communicate with and educate individuals. Everyone learns and retains new information differently and available methods or combination of techniques may help all individuals.

Contrasting Theory

A theory considered as a conceptual framework for this study was system theory. Business leaders use system theory to predict, explain, and clarify real-world business issues (Adams et al., 2014). Systems theory, developed by von Bertalanffy (1950), is different from CLT developed by Sweller (1988). CLT is associated with individual learning and used in generating a variety of instructional designs (Kirschner et al., 2018). In contrast, system theory is associated with areas in biology and founded on the principle of studying complex, holistic conditions (von Bertalanffy, 1950). Systems theory is an interdisciplinary study of systems in which the system is a framework of how interrelated and interdependent parts function as a cohesive system (Beven, 2006). According to systems theory, systems demonstrate reliable, habitual behavior and serve divergent functions (Broks, 2016; Sayin, 2016). A researcher uses systems theory to describe the dynamics of a system, what it is capable of, and how to measure the performance of the system (Beven, 2006). The entire system works appropriately when all subsystems are in alignment (Belinfanti & Stout, 2018). However, the health of the system remains contingent upon the health of each subsystem (Belinfanti & Stout, 2018). Leaders of organizations can use system theory to understand and resolve problems within the system of their organization. However, system theory is not appropriate to reduce employee information overload.

Belinfanti and Stout (2018) asserted researchers use the tenets of system theory to more deeply understand how each part of the entire system interacts with each other and promotes accountability and sustainability. The tenets of system theory include (a) holistic approach, (b) interconnection, and (c) controlling the system (Belinfanti & Stout, 2018). Systems theory is used in multiple contexts: family therapy (Becvar & Becvar, 2017), learning (Kumaran et al., 2016), evolutionary studies (Badcock et al., 2017), inside schools (Burdern, 2018), and when in relation to finances. The diverse application of system theory reveals the flexibility of the system. Systems theory is significantly distinct from CLT in systems theory focuses on the behavior of a system resulting from its subsystems. At the same time, CLT is useful to explain organizational behavior while under strain from inputs. System theory is not as suitable as a framework for this study as CLT. CLT is suitable for this study because it has relevance to human memory, the elements of interactivity, and the factors contributing to the cognitive load of employees.

Information-Communication Technologies

Information technology provides significant advantage against business competitors. The advancement of information technology is a pivotal and a strategic tool for competitive advantage and business success (Berisha-Shaqiri, 2015; Maceli & Burke, 2016; Ramrathan & Sibanda, 2017). Berisha-Shaqiri and Berisha-Namani (2015) showed the essential resource for any country's economic development was the use of digitalization and information technology. Technological devices included in the definition of information-communication technologies (ICT) include electronic communication tools (e.g., faxes, e-mail, or instant messaging), electronic conferencing tools, social networking tools, and collaborative work management tools (Oldham & Da Silva, 2015). Employees across many industries manage and use ICT in their daily work. The use of ICT is to help employees work more effectively and productively in teams; however, with their use, employees face the demand of timely responses from multiple directions and expected to complete a variety of tasks simultaneously (Atanasoff & Venable, 2017). Cao et al. (2016) and Jeske and Axtell (2014) agreed the physical constraints of traditional business interactions ease the use of ICT. The use of ICT plays a significant role in the dynamics of information overload (Bonneville & Grosjean, 2016). Researchers suggested the concept of information overload was not prevalent before the 20th century, and the idea grew in prominence with the growth of technology. Consequently, they concluded information overload might partly be a product of the growth of technology, which has led to humans' exposure to almost unending information (Benselin & Ragsdell, 2016). Leaders must implement strategies that balance the use of ICT in their efforts to reduce information overload.

The accessibility of new and diverse information from numerous sources has the potential to provide fresh and creative new ideas. As a result, organizational success is possible because employees are more engaged and are likely to experiment with ideas for improving the organization (Oldham & Da Silva, 2015). Atanasoff and Venable (2017) asserted while there are advantages of improved productivity and efficiency within the workplace, there are negative effects on employee satisfaction, commitment, cognitive, psychological, and physical health. Information technology may contribute to business

success and improvement; however, it can come at the cost of an employee's health or overall well-being.

A potential side effect of technological devices is the exposure to latest information and generation of new ideas, resulting in information overload (Oldham & Da Silva, 2015). Borkovich (2017) found an overwhelming amount of information arriving in the organization under study due to uncontrollable digital collection points. Individuals dedicate extensive time to collecting abundant information, generating too many ideas to effectively process and integrate (Oldham & Da Silva, 2015). ICT may not always represent the sole source of increased problems on a routine basis for workers; however, used daily, ICT can potentially create increased demands on employees (Bonneville & Grosjean, 2016). Conversely, the implication of information technology focuses on improving the business process, adding value to the organization, and providing accessibility for its customers (Kim et al., 2017). ICT could help the businesses to operate more effectively, but when used daily, it can negatively impact employees. The strategies operational leaders implement must effectively address ICT.

Healthcare Industry as a Business

Healthcare operates as a business to make a profit and while providing affordable patient care. Sawyer (2018) asserted healthcare in the U.S is a business term. Sawyer stated doctors and patients are organized into a system where money is extracted from the relationship between both parties in the system. Billions of dollars are shifted from the healthcare system to expand capacity, increasing market share for the hospitals (Sawyer, 2018). There were remarkable spending patterns in the health sector following the onset of the Great Recession in late 2007 and the reason for the change in spending patterns stems from economic effects on healthcare services and major reforms in healthcare policy (Hartman et al., 2018). The spending of Medicaid risk-mitigation payments impacted the market-price premium prices and the overall spending patterns observed in 2017 and 2018 (Cuckler et al., 2018). National expenditure on healthcare may grow at an expected average of 5.5% per year from 2017 to 2026, and the growth will reach \$5.7 trillion by 2026 (Cuckler et al., 2018). The expected increase in healthcare spending provides the potential for hospitals to make a profit and stay in the business of taking care of patients. Garrity and Fiedler (2016) asserted profits are an excellent incentive for hospitals to provide affordable and efficient services to patients. However, there is a need for healthcare leaders to redefine traditional policies and strategies in a changing healthcare environment (Chemers, 2014). If hospitals reduce the impact of information overload on their employees and increase employee performance, they may positively impact patient care and maintain financial stability.

The quality of patient care impacts a hospital's financial performance. The quality of healthcare provided to patients potentially affects the hospital's financial performance and productivity (Wang et al., 2018). Richter and Muhlestein (2017) conducted a study to show the relationship between healthcare quality and financial performance. The researchers found increases in healthcare quality positively affect profitability and conversely, reduced quality with decreased profitability. The operational leader in the healthcare setting has the challenge of balancing the goals of improving patients' health outcomes while maintaining the institution's financial viability (Myers et al., 2019).

Beauvais et al. (2017) suggested hospital organizations taking proactive steps to improve patient safety can reduce costs due to medical errors, incorrect care, and complications of diseases. Additionally, improved patient safety can maximize limited resources, provide additional capital, and enhance the hospital's financial performance.

Hospital departments face demands that impacts operational efficiency. In the healthcare industry, the medical domain is a complex, adaptive system (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015). Leaders in healthcare organizations continue to strive for increased efficiency in departments with high-throughput services, and one critical department with high-throughput services is the emergency department (Westbrook et al., 2018). In patients' diagnoses, medical practitioners use multiple sources containing patient information to process and integrate information (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015). For example, emergency department physicians must manage the tasks involved in treating patients and apply various strategies to manage their workload, including frequent unpredictable demands (Westbrook et al., 2018). Westbrook et al. (2018) found emergency physicians had high interruption rates and frequently had to multitask to handle the volume of competing demands. Frequent unpredictable demands and constant multitasking impacts efficiency in hospital departments with high throughput.

Exploring strategies to reduce information overload is of value to the healthcare business. Haight et al. (2018) conducted a study of technicians who monitor the health status of patients in their hospitals via telemetry and portable bedside units. The monitoring technician's job is to look for bed alarm conditions triggered by patients. The job is cognitively demanding and must communicate accurately as a preassessment for the nurses (Haight et al., 2018). The researcher's objective was to ascertain the monitoring technician's information processing workload and whether the large volume of data was too high for error-free operation. Equipment alarms, misinterpretation of alarms notification, late response to alarms, and incorrect reading of electrocardiogram strips represent examples of staffing errors (Haight et al., 2018). Haight et al. found over 748,000 alarms recorded in nearly a month, resulted in significant information processed by a technician to make appropriate decisions. Information processing load, fatigue, and vigilance were a concern. The researchers recommended strategies to reduce information overload on employees who manage critical information processing; therefore, the recommendation applies across all industries where there is an expectation for employees to respond to upset conditions (Haight et al., 2018). Operational leaders across many industries can benefit from strategies to reduce information overload on employees.

Causes of Information Overload

Employees face exposure to a myriad of information daily in the performance of their work. Information overload is the result when an individual has too much information needed for decision-making (Roetzel, 2018). Buckland (2017) asserted information overload could occur from exposure to excessive data daily. The notion of information overload describes everyday communication situations, which involves too much information in limited time for any individual to manage (Eppler & Mengis, 2004). Any source of information can contribute to information overload. The causes of information overload in an organization's environment are classified into five groups by Eppler and Mengis (2004) including (a) personal factors, (b) information characteristics, (c) task and process parameters, (d) organizational design factors, and (e) information technologies. A mixture of all the five groups results in information overload, not one by itself (Eppler & Mengis, 2004). The different wealth of information represents the resource-consuming tasks that are significant sources of cognitive load.

Contribution to information overload comes in a variety of forms and not limited to a lone source. Personal traits (e.g., age, skill, and the like), such as motivation, personal situations, and the information-processing capacities of an individual contribute to information overload (Eppler & Mengis, 2003). Chae et al. (2016) agreed the qualitative or quantitative aspects of information are not the only factor to cause information overload. In other words, the presence of information overload is least likely to affect an individual no matter the quantity and quality of the information. However, Chae et al. found individual ability, motivation, family history, and education of the participants contributed to information overload. Leaders need to consider strategies to mitigate the impact of personal factors on information overload.

Information characteristics itself is a cause of information overload. Schneider (1987) emphasized the amount of information is not the only determining cause of information overload but the specific characteristics such as the level of uncertainty, ambiguity, novelty, and complexity. Lee et al., (2016) expressed ambiguity of information between people results in more effort to process information. Paul and Nazareth (2010) found individuals can process information efficiently with increased complexity until information processing capacity is exceeded. The information

characteristics can contribute to overload or reduce it. Also, information relevance can cause information overload (Schneider, 1987). However, contrary to expectations, Graf and Antoni (2020) found information relevance is not a negative factor but rich in value. The higher the information relevance, the lower the information overload on the user due to ability to manage more information.

Task and process parameters contribute to information overload. Task and process parameters are an influential cause of information overload because tasks and processes depend on the use of information. Kirschner et al. (2018) noted a task takes various forms. A task is either convergent or divergent and well-structured or ill-structured. The complexity of the tasks is an individual's perception of the task (Sia & Appu, 2015). Task interruptions are common in the modern work environment. Lee and Duffy (2015) conducted a study using computer-based human behavior tasks to investigate the effects of interruptions using four types of human tasks. Lee and Duffy found interruption significantly negative in cognitive task sets and increases the time to complete those tasks. However, there were minimal effects on the task completion time for the skill/cognitive task sets. Lee and Duffy also found interruptions resulted in increased time to complete cognitive tasks, and interruption resulted in more errors in skill tasks. In contrast, Lebbon and Sigurjónsson (2016) found increasing occurrences of interruptions do not affect organizational performance or productivity. Additionally, Lankton et al., (2012) found lowered perceived information overload in low-complexity tasks with predefined guidance. In high-complexity task, Lankton et al. found lowered perceived information overload in situation involving participative guidance.

Organizational design contributes to information overload. Organizational design, especially the organizational structure of a company, is an essential factor that causes information overload in a company (Galbraith, 1974; Tushman & Nadler, 1978). Galbraith (2014) described organization design as the way one manages a business and organizes it to achieve its goals. Galbraith further added organization design balances the information-processing capacity and the information-processing demands of the organization. Organizational design changes in such a manner its centralization can result in the need to process more information due to increase communication and coordination (Schneider, 1987). Burton and Obel (2018) asserted communication is a critical part of the coordination process in the organization, and its choice of coordination subsequently affects the information flow within the organization and its members. Due to the organization's design, managers may engage in collaborative work or involved with information search (Burton & Obel, 2018). In the initial stage of collaborative work, information overload appears especially prevalent because members connect and learn about each other, exchanging information, and brainstorming ideas (Koh & Lim, 2012). Communication and coordination are the critical components of organizational design because information not communicated and coordinated correctly, can lead to information overload.

Information technologies contribute to information overload. Hoq (2016) referred to information overload as *information glut* and stated it could arise from a variety of sources such as print, online, and digital sources (Hoq, 2016). Information technologies are useful in the workplace to help with productivity. de Wet and Koekemoer (2016) and Karr-Wisniewski and Lu (2010) found information technologies is partially responsible for lower productivity due to the association of information overload and technology overload. Sbaffi et al., (2020) explained the rise in mobile technologies has exacerbated the issue of information overload. Furthermore, information technologies created a unique type of anxiety related to the difference between what a person knows versus what they feel they should know. Hoq indicated information overload led to negative outcomes not only because of the stress associated with negotiating too much information but because of feeling anxious about what a person does not know. Consequently, Benselin and Ragsdell (2016) concluded information overload might partly be a product of the growth of technology that led to humans exposed to almost unending sources of information. Managing information technologies can help reduce information overload on employees.

Communication technology adds to information overload because it extends beyond the work hours and has overwhelmed employees. Saxena and Lamest (2018) explained managers felt overwhelmed by the volume of digital information available at their disposal. Specifically, the high volume and speed of the digital data coupled with the qualitative and unsolicited nature of the information were distressing, causing an increase in information overload to managers. The advent of information technologies resulted in an overwhelming volume of information available to employees and contribute to information overload.

Consequences of Information Overload

Information overload has consequences that affect employees daily. The consequences associated with information overload are diverse and impacts many people. The consequences of information overload are both emotional and motivational. Such consequences seen through symptoms of occurrence include stress, anxiety, inefficient performance, and tiredness (Bawden & Robinson, 2009; Edmunds & Morris, 2000). Stress, burnout, safety issues, and employee performance are a few of the consequences of information overload discussed in this study.

Stress

Stress within an organization is common in various positions in different industries, and it disrupts the employees (Florea & Florea, 2016). Misra et al. (2020) stated in the case of public managerial settings that perceived information overload is significantly linked to perceived stress level. Stress can cause a lack of engagement, lost productivity, and work dissatisfaction (Burnett & Pettijohn, 2015). Saleem et al., (2015) found stress in the hospital setting is terrible enough to decrease motivation. The thought of stress or the perception of stress seen in others can reduce motivation and increase the stress in nurses (Saleem et al., 2015). Stress and associated problems can lead to an employee seeking relief through employment with another organization, affecting the current organization's turnover rate (Burnett & Pettijohn, 2015). Too much stress in the workplace can negatively affect the organization, impacting retention, work performance, satisfaction, and motivation.

Burnout

Burnout is a consequence of information overload impacting health professional. In recent years, documented studies and reported cases in the media of psychological distress, fatigue, and burnout among health professionals exist which included nurses (Bonneville & Grosjean, 2016). Couto et al. (2019) identified burnout as high demands on personnel combined with information overload, leading to feelings of guilt, and not doing or performing to standards. Overwhelming amounts of content communicated within too short of a period could exceed the receiver's ability to process all information (Cho et al., 2019). Burnout is prevalent among health professionals due to extremely high demands on personnel. One of the main causes to burnout for healthcare professionals are the repetitive nature of administrative tasks (Ozkula & Durukan, 2017). Dyrbye et al. (2019) found in an average organization with 200 physicians, the turnover and reduced hours cost the organization \$1.5 million per year. Such profound economic cost is grounds to seek strategies to mitigate the cost.

Once the cognitive capacity is exceeded, an individual will experience burnout. An individual's cognitive capacity is not adaptable to change (Iskander, 2018). Adding to the emotive strain as the occupational complexity and demands increase, is the increasing total load placed on an individual's cognitive capacity. When an individual reaches a level of cognitive overload, the result is the immediate predecessor of burnout (Iskander, 2018). Burnout can impact depression in employees. In past studies, researchers found a connection between depression and burnout (Montero-Marin et al., 2016; Wurm et al., 2016). Both depression and burnout can reduce an individual's ability to function effectively (Iskander, 2018). As the workplace increases in demands and complexity, it increases cognitive load, leading to burnout, and depression. Leaders will need to implement strategies to reduce information overload, subsequently reducing the load on an individual's cognitive capacity.

Safety Issues

Information overload is of concern because it can create safety issues within the workplace. In recent times, Felstead et al. (2016) indicated information overload may have a role in creating the sort of workplace pressure that leads to safety concerns. In healthcare, compromising patient safety is a major consequence of medical information overload (Sbaffi et al. 2020). Sbaffi et al. (2020) found the culture of always available mindset, email handling, and multidisciplinary communication were the main reasons for information overload. Amir et al. (2018) suggested when trying to communicate critical information for an individual's safety; information overload may prevent adequate communication. During a crisis, effective communication is necessary to promote safety, and so communication efforts should partly consider how information communicated will prevent overload.

Employee Performance

Gilbert (2007) recognized an organization is a complex system where performance resides in individuals. No sufficient research exists concerning the examination of employee performance and information overload; however, researchers found in multiple studies a link between stress and poorer performance outcomes. At times, employees may have to deal with stressful conditions that hurt their ability to perform their tasks (Chiu et al., 2015). Navigating both job duties and dealing with stressors from information overload, results in exhaustion and energy depletion. Other outcomes related to stress include burnout, depression, and aggression (Hobfoll et al., 2003). Brooks and Califf (2016) noted stress may result from various forms of information overload and subsequently create a more unsatisfactory productivity outcome. Work requirements combined with workplace stressors contribute to information overload, resulting in more reduced job performance.

Changes in organizational performance or management of information to effectively operate a team are symptoms of information overload (Ellwart et al., 2015). The change in internal and external factors impacts an individual's motivation and drives their overall productivity (Yeheyis et al., 2016). Changes must occur not solely on the workers but their work environment to improve their performance (Gilbert, 2007; Pershing, 2016). To see an overall positive change in organizational performance, leaders must find strategies to reduce information overload in the work environment.

Use of technology in the workplace impacts employee performance. Technostress influences both employee and organization performance (Suh & Lee, 2017). Salanova et al. (2014) posited technostress is a negative psychological state that is spiraling and results in deterioration to current or future use of technology. Tarafdar et al. (2015) explained one of the main reasons for increased effect of technostress is the rapid proliferation of ICTs and the cognitive and social demands relevant to use in the workplace. Gaudioso et al. (2017) observed in their study technostress contributed to work exhaustion. Strain arising from new forms of technology, including social networks,

falls into the category of a strain known as technostress. Technostress is particularly likely to arise when people are uncomfortable with the implementation of technology in the workplace (Ansah et al., 2016). Brooks and Califf (2016) and Tarafdar et al. (2015) linked the use of social media in tandem with completing work tasks to information and work overload, resulting in reduced job performance. Ansah et al. (2016) investigation of technostress by employees in the banking industry revealed using such technologies led to anxiety, pessimism toward the job, and mental pressure. The employees struggled to adapt to the technology. Technostress adds to information overload, impacting performance, anxiety, negative attitude, and mental pressure in the workplace.

Information Overload and Decision-Making in Business

Information overload in the workplace has an effect on employees 'decisionmaking. Eppler and Mengis (2004) listed delayed and inferior decision-making as one of the 25 symptoms of information overload. Information overload situations include sensory overload, data smog, information overkill, information flow, information explosion, or document tsunami (Eppler & Mengis, 2004). Too much information may present concerns to individuals, but the collection of information provides value to both decision-making and problem-solving (Moy et al., 2018). Due to an individual's limited attention span, it is natural to ignore lengthy textual information (Moy et al., 2018). Too much information will negatively impact an individual's decision-making process by causing feelings of stress, confusion, anxiety, or loss of motivation (Eppler & Mengis, 2004). In contrast, too little information can also lead to negative outcomes in decisionmaking (Moy et al., 2018). The collection of information can aid in decision-making, but too much or too little can adversely affect the outcome.

The growth of information in the workplace affects healthcare leaders. Klerings et al. (2015) noted the rapid growth of available information in healthcare affects all levels of the healthcare system. Healthcare leaders must simultaneously process and filter information in a short period to decide and engage in an informed decision-making manner with their patients. The decision-making process of these healthcare leaders occurs while subjected to information overload (Klerings et al., 2015). It is difficult for healthcare leaders to filter information effectively. Clarke et al. (2013) posited the three main factors affecting healthcare personnel to filter information effectively are lack of time, lack of skills to search effectively, and inability to integrate information into their workflow. In an environment of information growth, the ability to filter information impacts the healthcare leader's decision-making process. Healthcare leaders need to find strategies to help them accurately filter information to avoid overloading employees.

Information can take different forms and affect the decision-making of an individual faced with diverse cues and information sources (Moy et al., 2018). When an overabundance of information is available, it presents a challenge to the individual faced with the data. The individual cannot process every single data, regardless of whether it could lead to higher decision quality (Moy et al., 2018). An individual's performance during decision-making gradually improves as additional information is provided but declines when data input is excessive, leading to information overload (Eppler & Mengis, 2004). Those individuals who excel at making an appropriate decision in the face of information overloads are superior decision-makers (Moy et al., 2018). Information can improve decision-making capacity, but in excess, it can have an opposite effect.

In circumstances where information complexity is high, the amount of information alone will exhaust the decision-maker's information processing capacity before other factors (Roetzel, 2018). Simon and Newell (1971) noted in circumstances of information overload; a decision-maker could not process an abundance of information in limited time due to two factors: (a) limited short-term memory, and (b) inadequate information processing capacity for each time unit. Time is a critical, decisive factor on most occasions in managerial decision-making, but extreme examples exist with the availability of unlimited time (Roetzel, 2018). With a gradual increase in information and appropriate length of time to process the available information, an individual will find their performance during decision-making is positively impacted.

Healthcare Leader's Role in Change

Leadership is necessary to ensure the implementation of strategies in an organization. Leaders play a significant role in the formation and effective implementation of organizational strategies (Jabbar & Hussein, 2017). Along the lines of a leader's capacity, there is no one best way to lead. The variety of leadership strategies assessed must determine which one is the most effective in any given situation (Dinh et al., 2014). It is necessary to use different leadership strategies in the management of information overload in the workplace.

Bendell et al. (2017) summarized leadership as a persuasive behavior that influences groups of people to achieve a worthy goal that is pleasing and would have not otherwise achieved. The key to leadership is recognizing leadership is not associated with power or position but with behavior (Bendell et al., 2017). The core of a leader's behavior is its power. However, for a leader to be effective, they must enlist the participation of their subordinates (Lo et al., 2015). Alavi and Gill (2016) noted authentic leadership contributes to success in today's complex organizational change. Many leadership strategies are possible, but leaders must find the ones right for themselves, their subordinates, and their situation or environment.

Healthcare industry operational leaders are responsible for deciding on a variety of operational issues within a healthcare organization workplace. A leader's actions and behaviors do not go unchecked in healthcare organizations, and their performance is equally important as the results they provide (Walshe & Smith, 2006). In healthcare, leaders use a myriad of resources to process and integrate information to conduct diagnosis and solve problems (Leppink & van den Heuvel, 2015). Therefore, healthcare leaders must implement strategies to manage the resource-consuming tasks, reducing information overload on employees.

Healthcare organizations exist in a hostile, demanding, fast-changing environment, and to survive, leaders must balance competing demands from a wide variety of stakeholders (Walshe & Smith, 2006). In healthcare organizations, patient safety is the leaders' chief responsibility. Therefore, healthcare leaders are the key to managing staff in reducing harm to patients and save lives while effectively managing billions of dollars (Conway et al., 2017). Healthcare leaders also manage information behavior within the organization to improve the overall effectiveness of information in the environment (Davenport & Prusak, 1997). Operation leaders in healthcare control the flow of business in the workplace, with actions and behaviors closely monitored, they balance demands from stakeholders, manage patient safety, maintain financial efficiency, and improve information flow.

Multitasking

Multitasking is a phenomenon linked to WMC and information overload. Sweller (1988) posited the increase of cognitive load on an individual occurs when the interruptions and multitasking to process information unrelated to their primary task make demands on WMC. Multitasking involves an individual performing multiple concurrent tasks (Gruszka & Nęcka, 2017; Monsell, 2003), or as a way of using a specific time to accomplish a set of task goals by frequently alternating between tasks (Delbridge, 2000). Pollard and Courage (2017) indicated multitasking performance is influenced by working memory to a significant degree. Understanding the impact of multitasking on the working memory may be beneficial to reduce employee information overload.

Multitasking negatively impacts an individual and their performance when involved in a variety of different tasks. In their research, Weaver et al. (2014) investigated forced task-switching on participants who were expecting to switch tasks voluntarily. Initially, the participants began their desired task to perform and later given an unwelcome task. The result was longer reaction time and higher errors during the performance of tasks. The overall result is if an individual chooses to multitask, they can do it in such a way that reduces their cognitive load. However, the individual will take a long time and have more errors (Weaver et al., 2014). Multitasking and unexpected interruptions negatively impact cognitive load. However, an individual can still multitask but at a level that reduces their cognitive load.

In healthcare, multitasking is an important skill; however, it is poorly understood and received limited research attention (Douglas et al., 2017). Colligan and Bass (2012) found in their qualitative study of pediatric nurses and medication administration that nurses were required to multitask when prompted to speak with the pediatric consultant. The asynchronous communication between nurse and pediatric consultant resulted in a cost to efficiency of the process. In contrary, there are benefits of multitasking when placed in context of multiple objectives involving stakeholders in healthcare (Douglas et al., 2017). Weigl et al. (2015) posited there are positive association between multitasking by emergency department staff and the rated quality of patient information transfer when working with another hospital department. Leaders should carefully consider multitasking for its negative and positive impacts on healthcare workers.

In several studies, researchers found multitasking impacted the working memory of individuals. In their study, Pollard and Courage (2017) found students asked to attend to both texts and video contents were more likely to demonstrate poorer recall from both media. Pollard and Courage also found students were able to ignore the video learned to the same degree as undistracted students, indicating the importance of working memory to learning, and the importance of being able to commit attention to a single source when necessary. In another study to find the impact of multitasking on diagnostic decisionmaking, Cao and Liu (2013) found participants showed reduced performance when asked to listen and remember verbal patient updates of information provided about other patients. The ability to control attention links to the ability to maintain information. Engle (2018) noted being able to control an individual's attention, a phenomenon known as executive attention, is essential to working memory. Engle also indicated working memory is necessary for the maintenance of information over time. In studies, researchers noted the importance of fostering executive attention. Redick et al. (2016) also suggested the importance of controlling attention. Redick et al. examined performance on complex tasks designed to gauge multitasking ability. Multitasking impacts the working memory by limiting an individual's ability to maintain control of their attention. Therefore, multitasking affected the level of performance of an individual.

Transition

Section 1 started with the foundation of the problem of information overload in the workplace and the need for further research, the problem statement, the purpose of this study, and the nature of the study. Section 1 also included a description and justification for using cognitive load theory as the conceptual framework for this study. Furthermore, Section 1 contained the assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and the significance of the study. The literature review includes support for additional research exploring and identifying strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload.

Section 2 addresses the purpose of the study, my role as the researcher, and the participants' selection. Additional components of Section 2 include the research method and design, population and sampling, and ethical research. The final components of Section 2 include data collection instruments and techniques, data organization

techniques, and analysis, reliability and validity, and the transition statement and summary of the study. Section 3, reports the findings and results collected during the study, offers recommendations for business application and further research, provides the implications for social change, lists recommendations for future research, and conclude the study with a summary statement.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 1, I conveyed the foundation, background, and current literature addressing information overload in the workplace. In Section 2, I recap the purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, reliability and validity, and transition and summary.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. The target population consisted of eight healthcare industry operational leaders from one organization located in the Southeast region of the United States with successful experience in reducing employee information overload. The implications for positive social change included efficient work environments, which may decrease turnover, enhance innovation, improve productivity, increase employee retention, and provide for job sustainability. The results of this study may also help alleviate employee stressors and emotional exhaustion, improving the overall quality of life for employees and their families.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the primary researcher was to collect and analyze the data provided by the research participants in an ethical and professional manner. A researcher's role is complex and involves various activities in a qualitative study (Postholm & Skrøvset, 2013; Stake, 2013). The responsibilities of the qualitative researcher are to gather, organize, and analyze the most innovative data and main study themes. Qualitative researchers effectively (a) establish themselves as the primary data collection instrument; (b) interpret data from a representative sample and complete qualitative data analysis; and (c) preserve ethical standards during high-quality research and presentation of study findings (Alshenqeeti, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Pacho, 2015). Malone et al. (2014) suggested during the data collection process, the researcher must engage the use of prepared interview protocols to reduce the influence of personal bias. Cypress (2017) emphasized the use of reflexivity and bracketing to prevent biases during any stage of the research process. I mitigated personal bias that may have coerced participants 'responses and skewed the data analysis by following the interview protocol.

Unbiased, evidence-based practices are essential to allow readers to review the data and suboptimal treatments critically. An understanding of bias and its impact on the study results is vital. Cypress (2017) noted a researcher's bias is a potential threat to validity. Rikli and Jones (2013) suggested validity and reliability determine the accuracy of report findings. Houser (2013) noted in a qualitative research, rigor and truth are a concern and challenge in the 21st century. According to Morse et al. (2002), research is worthless in the absence of rigor. The authors identified rigor as the strength of the research design in which the criteria deliver a higher level of study and ideal methodological quality.

In addition to serving as the primary researcher, my responsibilities included designing the study, selecting the participants, and collecting, organizing, and analyzing

the data. To preserve the ethical standards of the study, I followed the models of the program that fit well with a qualitative inquiry and meet the standards as prescribed by the Belmont Report Protocol (1979). Brody et al. (2015) stated the Belmont Report Protocol requires researchers to adhere to the three fundamental ethical principles of respect for persons, beneficence, and justice during research that includes human participants. Combs (2017) and Madeira (2015) recommended researchers use consent forms to assure study participants of the researcher's affiliation with a credible institution of ethical compliance, and the forms also allow participants the option to decline or participate. I provided participants an informed consent form.

Yin (2018) recommended that qualitative researchers take careful consideration in in the collection, analysis, and reporting of data to eliminate or reduce bias in the research. I used objectivity and not personal experiences, interests, or beliefs to influence the results of my research. Researchers develop interview protocols with a methodology toward data collection that improves the accuracy of subjects, dependent on the interview process and informational follow-up techniques (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Patton, 2015; Yin, 2013). To avoid inconsistencies, I followed an interview protocol.

The primary research tool was a semistructured personal interview process because face-to-face interaction provides a higher quality of data that yields the most insight. With direct human interaction, there is more communication of information on several levels beyond verbal expression. Body language and facial expressions uncover deep emotions, attitudes, and motivations (Irvine et al., 2012; Smith & Noble, 2014). However, due to the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, interviews occurred virtually. Interviews and focus group discussion occurred telephonically. During the interview process, I also maintained integrity and objectivity that protected my subjects from harm through the preservation of confidentiality, informed consent, respect for privacy, and full disclosure of acknowledged collaboration of subjects.

Participants

The sample population for the study came from an organization located in the Southeast region of the United States. The selection criteria for the participants in the study includes a minimum of 2 years of experience in employees 'current job positions so they could effectively answer the interview questions. Eligible participants for this study included operational leaders who worked for the selected healthcare organization. The study participants were appropriate because they represented the larger population of the organization, and their characteristics are in alignment with this study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Sangster-Gormley, 2013; Yin, 2013). Also, I selected participants responsible for the successful implementation of strategies that reduce employee information overload and improve employee productivity.

Upon receiving the approval by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for the study, I contacted potential participants via email. Combs (2017) explained researchers provide a consent form to participants to join the study or decline participation. I sent detailed information about the study, providing a letter of invitation informed consent form, and provided the participants with the opportunity to consent or withdraw from the study at any time. Participants willing to participate in the study replied with "I Consent" in their email response.

Research Method and Design

There are three research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Almalki, 2016; Maxwell, 2016). The qualitative research method is one of the most popular and diverse methodologies in business studies (Chandra & Shang, 2017). A qualitative research method is appropriate for a well-established foundation and aligns with the study's best approach and outcomes (Yin, 2015). Researchers use a quantitative research method to collect and measure numerical data that depicts the relationship between variables using experimental or nonexperimental designs (Cooper, 2016; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2014). I did not use the quantitative research method in this study because it would not yield an in-depth understanding of the people experiencing the phenomenon of research interest. The mixed method research is the application of both narrative and numerical data used to investigate the phenomenon of study (Brown et al., 2016; Stake, 2013). The mixed method approach was not appropriate for the study because hypotheses did not need testing through statistical data analysis.

Research Method

I used a qualitative research method for the study. The qualitative research method is the most appropriate for this study because it allows for exploration and questioning of the participants'circumstances of lived experiences. In the qualitative method approach, a researcher uses semistructured interviews to collect data and focuses on discoveries aligned with the researcher's questions (Gioia et al., 2013). Researchers conducting a qualitative research method study engage in an open-ended question to collect data from participants and interpret data to achieve a comprehensive

understanding of the phenomenon of study (Almalki, 2016; Baskarada, 2014). Guercinie (2014) suggested qualitative data provides the opportunity for richness and complexity found in thick descriptions. The choice of a qualitative research method for this study was appropriate to understand the effective strategies operational leaders use to reduce information overload on employees.

A quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study because I did not assess hypotheses or explore relationships between variables using statistical data. Goertzen (2017) agreed the quantitative research method allows researchers to collect data and analyze quantifiable numerical data. Researchers using quantitative research methods to establish the relational validity of existing theories and generalizing outcomes may not provide detailed descriptions of the phenomenon of study (Demishkevich, 2015; Zyphur & Pierides, 2017). In mixed method research, researchers combine qualitative and quantitative techniques and involve observation of hypotheses (Stake, 2013; Turner et al., 2017). Researchers use a mixed method approach to collect and analyze qualitative and quantitative data to seek concise answers to research questions (Bazeley, 2015; Brown et al., 2016; Goertzen, 2017; Turner et al., 2017). Mixed method research is timeconsuming and costly for the researcher (Kaczynak et al., 2014; Turner et al., 2017). A mixed method approach was not suitable for this study because I did not examine hypotheses by analyzing quantitative data.

Research Design

The designs for qualitative research methods include case study, ethnographic, and phenomenological (Demishkevich, 2015; Yin, 2018). A case study design is useful when discovering unique experiences about a situation (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Two main methods exit for case studies: single and multiple (Yin, 2018). A single case study design was the chosen design for this study because it allowed the exploration of realworld situations involving information overload in the workplace.

A researcher who focuses on understanding the "why" question in more than one case, and constructs a comprehensive picture of the phenomena, engages in a multiple case study (Yin, 2018). A researcher may not be able to commit the time or afford the extensive resources necessary for a multiple case study. Hence, the multiple case study design is impractical in exploring strategies to reduce information overload and may slow progress in the research due to the organization's busy environment. Another rationale for using a single study is a common case that involves the observation of common everyday situations and conditions (Yin, 2018). A single case study design was an appropriate approach for the study because I am interested in the common everyday situation of information overload in the workplace.

I made a careful consideration in selecting this research design over the other design methods such as narrative, phenomenology, and ethnographic. The narrative research design is more appropriate for researchers seeking to understand the lives of individuals told through participants 'life stories (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). A narrative research design is not applicable to this study because this is not a collection of stories or life experiences. Data collection is retrieved from interviews and a focus group. The phenomenological research design is appropriate for researchers focused on people-in-society settings and identifying participants 'perceptions of their own life experiences with phenomena (Butina, 2015; Jarzabkowski et al., 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I did not use a phenomenological research design because the study does not focus on the personal meanings of participants 'perceptions of their own life experiences. The ethnographic research design is appropriate for researchers focused on culture-sharing of a group and exploring the culture of its members (Crandall et al., 2016; Morgan-Trimmer & Wood, 2016). The ethnographic research design was not appropriate for this study because the focus of this study is not on the culture-sharing of a group.

It is critical for a researcher to ensure data saturation in qualitative studies. A researcher achieves data saturation through thorough sampling of data to produce themes, and when no additional themes are possible (Acaster et al., 2015; Fusch & Ness, 2015). Tai and Ajjawi (2016) posited researchers use data saturation until no new theme occurs and enhance the credibility of qualitative research to achieve data saturation. I conducted semistructured interviews until there were no additional themes. I also engaged member checking with each participant for additional information until I achieved data saturation.

Population and Sampling

Population

The study population consisted of eight healthcare industry operational leaders from one organization in the Southeast region of the United States with successful experience in reducing employee information overload. Qualitative researchers use a sample size consisting of five to 50 participants, but a large sample size does not guarantee richness and depth in collected data for the study (Boddy, 2016; Dworkin, 2012; Yin, 2018). The overarching research question for this study is: What strategies do healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload?

Data Saturation and Sampling

Sampling is an essential process of the qualitative research design and used for selecting research participants from a specified population to represent the population (El-Masri, 2017; Robinson, 2014). Purposeful sampling is widely used in qualitative research to represent a population and affords the researcher to focus on selecting individuals or groups who are experienced and knowledgeable about the topic of study (Patton 2002; Ritchie et al., 2013). In purposeful sampling, the researcher attains rich and in-depth answers with smaller sample sizes (Tran et al., 2016). Palinkas et al. (2015) posited researchers use purposeful sampling in qualitative research and random sampling for quantitative research. I used purposeful sampling to conduct this single case qualitative study on an organization in which strategies to reduce information overload were successfully implemented. I selected participants with a minimum of 2 years of experience implementing strategies to reduce information overload. Interviews for the study occurred telephonically to protect the participants and me from the COVID-19 virus. I asked participants initial questions on their length of employment with their employer and their experience implementing strategies to reduce information overload.

Ethical Research

Ethical behavior is essential in conducting research, and researchers must ensure the privacy, protection, and respect to all participants involved in the research study (Wallace & Sheldon, 2015). Walton (2016) suggested researchers present their proposals to a research ethics committee before engaging in collecting data for their study. I initiated data collection after I received approval from Walden University's IRB. The approval number for this study is 06-11-21-0595359 with an expiration of June 10, 2022.

I emailed the participant an informed consent form to communicate the purpose of the study, participant's rights, benefits for participation, any associated risks, and followup procedures. I informed participant that participation is voluntary, and they can withdraw from the research at any time. Participants were also notified they will not receive any monetary enticement or gifts for their participation in this study. Yin (2018) recommends researchers inform participants of their rights to withdrawal before conducting their interviews. Interested participants returned the signed informed consent form through email.

To ensure privacy and confidentiality, I replaced all identifying information for interview participants with pseudonyms such as *PR1*, *PR2*, *PR3*, *PR4*, and *PR5*. The letters *PR* signifies the study participants and a number sequence starting with *1* as the first participants, followed by *2*, *3*, *4*, *5*. Similarly, I replaced all identifying information for focus group participants with pseudonyms such as FG1, FG2, and FG3. Noble and Smith (2015) stated the participants 'confidentiality is vital in achieving credibility. I secured all data collected during the research process from unauthorized access in a locked and fireproof box for five years. At the end of five years, I will destroy the data using a cross-shredding device.

Data Collection Instruments

In qualitative case study, I was the primary data collection instrument collecting the data and making analysis. Researchers who select the qualitative research method attain essential contextual information and an in-depth comprehension of a participant's viewpoint (Vass et al., 2017). A researcher can use participants 'observations, focus groups, and interviews to understand meanings, ideas, and experiences shared in the study (Baran & Jones, 2016). In case studies, data should come from at least two sources, collected in real-time, and real-world context, providing exploration, and understanding of the phenomena (Harrison & Mills, 2016; Yin, 2018). Multiple data sources provide various perspectives and are beneficial to strengthen findings in a case study (Johnston, 2017; Tibben, 2015). In this study, I collected data from both interviews and focus group discussions to generate valid information for analysis and triangulation of data.

I engaged the data collection process through a semistructured interview using open-ended questions throughout the communication with participants. The researcher leads the dialogue with open-ended questions, which allows participants to respond and elaborate on questions freely, and the researcher collects rich descriptions of the respondent's experience (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Through the interview process, researchers can ask follow-up questions, which adds depth to the collected data (Gelling, 2015). Researchers can employ a variety of methods to record interview data accurately, such as digital recording and written notes. A concise recording is a key component of data analysis (Vass et al., 2017). I used an interview protocol, outlined in Appendix A, asking the same questions to each participant while ensuring their right to confidentiality. I collaborated with an authorized representative to identify three potential participants to be part of a focus group for the study. Stewart and Shamdasani (1990) posited focus groups can work successfully with a minimum of three participants. The focus group discussion was conducted via telephone conferencing. I used an interview protocol to facilitate the focus group discussion (see Appendix A). The focus group participants received notice in advance about the recording of the focus group discussion. Participants were notified they can request I stop the recording at any time during the discussion.

Researchers use member checking as a technique for exploring the credibility of the research interview output with respondents' involvement (Birt et al., 2016; Smith & McGannon, 2017). Researchers involve participants in providing feedback on the summary of the interview transcript to ensure accuracy and vigor in collected data (Yin, 2017). Member checking includes a range of activities as brief follow-up interviews to correct possible misrepresentation, enhance data interpretation, and provide analyzed synthesized data (Birt et al., 2016). Member checking occurred using a written transcript of interpretations of the interview sent to the participant through email. I emailed the transcript to the participant to verify the accuracy and request additional information for data saturation.

Data Collection Technique

In this qualitative single case study, I was the primary data collection instrument. A researcher can select a primary and secondary data source for data collection (Hyett et al., 2014). A primary data source is an interview, and a secondary data source is a review of organizational documents (Oltmann, 2016). I used semistructured virtual interviews and a focus group discussion as data collection techniques to explore strategies healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload. I asked each participant 10 interview questions about the study (see Appendix B).

The researcher conducting qualitative research has two options for interviews: structured and unstructured (Rowley, 2012). Structured interviews involve questions of limited range resulting in "Yes" or "No" answers from participants (Ottmann & Crosbie, 2013; Qu & Dumay, 2011). Semistructured interviews involve prepared open-ended questions, observation, active listening, and recording good notes (Yates & Leggett, 2016). The richest form of collecting quality data is in a qualitative study through face-toface semistructured interviews (Yin, 2018). A strong case study consists of the methodological triangulation of multiple data sources collected during observation, interviews, and review of organizational documents (Archibald, 2016; Kern, 2016; Teshuva et al., 2016). Due to restrictions of Covid-19 pandemic, I collected data using telephonic interviews.

Data collection using semistructured face-to-face interviews has advantages and disadvantages. Advantages of interviews are the opportunities for unknown information to emerge and flexibility to ask additional questions based on new information (O'Keeffe et al., 2016; Young et al., 2016). Other advantages of semistructured face-to-face interviews include observation of participant's attitudes and emotions, easy participation, detail answers, consistency, and enhancing free expression of participant's thoughts (Brooks & Normore, 2015; Padgett et al., 2017). A disadvantage of the data collection
technique of using semistructured interviews is the participants making a mistake altering the provided information, focused on pleasing the interviewer, or showing bias (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). Another disadvantage of a semistructured face-to-face interview is participants providing false or incorrect information (Anderson & Holloway-Libell, 2014). Lastly, a disadvantage of semistructured interviews is the amount of time required for the interview (Bodoh et al., 2015; Young et al., 2016). I considered the advantages and disadvantages of my approach to the data collection technique.

I used member checking as a validation method of data collection and analysis. Member checking ensures the accuracy of the participant's perspective, provide clarification of intended meaning, and authenticate the study (Harvey, 2015; Hays et al., 2016). Member checking completes triangulation and is effective in eliminating misrepresentation of data (Caretta, 2016). Researchers engage the use of member checking to provide a summary of data interpretation of the interview to the participant to ensure accuracy, ensuring rigor and validity (Birt et al., 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In the post-interview process, each participant received a transcribed Microsoft Word document attached to an email with a request to provide feedback within seven days.

Data Organization Technique

Qualitative researchers use multiple data sources such as documents, recordings, interview notes, and observation to collect descriptive data and triangulate the information (Alderfer & Sood, 2016; Houghton et al., 2013; Vaughn & Turner, 2016). I used an audio recording device to ensure the accuracy of the participant's voice recorded

during each interview. Birt et al. (2016) confirmed the use of recordings to ensure accuracy and avoid omission of key and relevant information revealed during the interview. The use of technology was beneficial to the study. However, there is one key concern for privacy. The researcher can achieve success in the organization and management of data using technology when diligent in safeguarding participants' privacy (Moylan et al., 2015; Paulus et al., 2013). I created a research log of all data collected on a portable hard drive that is locked in a safe location.

In accordance with Walden University's IRB requirements for protecting human subjects 'rights during a study, I ensured the participants 'privacy and confidentiality. I stored all electronic recording on a password protected device and lock it away in a safe place. As the researcher, I securely stored the raw data obtained from the interviews and will destroyed after five years.

Each participant was protected with a pseudonym to identify each one with an alphanumeric code. Gläser and Laudel (2013) noted researchers use codes to protect the identities of participants. I replaced all identifying information for interview participants with pseudonyms such as PR1, PR2, PR3, PR4, and PR5. Similarly, I replaced all identifying information for focus group participants with pseudonyms such as FG1, FG2, and FG3.

Data Analysis

Qualitative researchers complete a data analysis systematically aligning to the research method (Moylan et al., 2015; Munn et al., 2014). During data analysis, the researcher documents synthesized findings from themes and patterns found in the data to

the study's research question (Munn et al., 2014; Nielsen & Hjørland, 2014). To help accurately integrate all data collected in this study, I used one of the four triangulation methods. Kern (2016) indicated triangulation assures accurate data analysis. Denzin and Giardina (2016) posited the four types of triangulation methods include: (a) investigator triangulation – using several investigators in the same research study; (b) data source triangulation – investigator collecting identical data from different sources and circumstances; (c) theory triangulation – investigator using different theory to interpret the same data; (d) methodological triangulation – investigator using multiple approaches to data collection, ensuring accuracy in data interpretation. I used methodological triangulation to validate data in the study.

Joslin and Müller (2016) asserted in the four types of triangulation methods used, methodological triangulation is the most widely method for qualitative research. A researcher selecting methodological triangulation over the other triangulation types ensures the data collected were complete (Denzin & Giardina, 2016). Researchers engaging in methodological triangulation uses multiple data collection sources on the same phenomenon (Carter et al., 2014). Abdalla et al. (2018) posited methodological triangulation combines methods, as a face-to-face interview, observation, and focus group to understand a given phenomenon better. In this study, methodological triangulation was the best for analyzing information from focus groups and virtual interviews. The information collected from both data collection sources ensured proper interpretation of the research question.

After the interviews, I transcribed recordings and holistically reviewed the transcribed documentation and related hand notes. Rowley (2012) outlined data analysis in four steps of (a) data organization, (b) data familiarity, (c) data interpretation and coding, and (d) result annotation and using software to help with data coding. Birks and Mills (2015) agreed all collected data can reveal important patterns that may emerge from participants. I used the four steps outlined by Rowley (2012) and the NVivo 12 software to organize and code phrases or words to categorize data into themes and help to determine trends in data. Paulus et al. (2017) asserted researchers can use the efficient and user-friendly NVivo 12 software programs to sort and organize data from the study. I used an Excel spreadsheet and NVivo 12 software to organize code phrases or words before categorizing data into themes. The NVivo 12 software allowed me to upload the transcribed file to its coding segment to code my raw data. Once the data was coded, I grouped codes into themes in a separate file. I focused on important themes by comparing the key themes found in the literature review, align them with the conceptual framework of CLT, and use the comparable themes found during the data analysis.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability refers to the dependability of the results of the research conducted by other researchers (Aravamudhan & Krishnaveni, 2015; Waring et al., 2015). Valid and reliable results are possible when there is an understanding of data (Waring et al., 2015). Validity refers to the accuracy of the results from the research (Moustakas, 1994). To ensure dependability and validity, researchers carry out member checking and interview transcript reviews (Onen, 2016; Yin, 2018). Houghton et al. (2013) identified the four aspects of reliability as dependability, confirmability, transferability, and credibility. I ensured compliance to reliability and validity in this study to maintain the quality of the qualitative research.

Reliability and Dependability

To ensure dependability, I used member checking. Dependability is the replicability of the results of the study (Grossoehme, 2014; Leung, 2015). In qualitative research, trustworthiness, and transparency in the conduct of the study are critical to the integrity of the findings (Leung, 2015). Onen (2016) noted researchers assess the consistency of the results of the study through its dependability. Member checking involves following up with participants to allow for a review of the researcher's interpretation, solicit additional information, and confirm the accuracy of the interview transcript (Birt et al., 2016; Chang, 2014; Cypress, 2017). After the interview process, I emailed each participant the transcript of their recording.

Validity

Confirmability

To ensure the study's confirmability, I used an audio recording device for each interview and used reflective notes to ensure accuracy and limit personal bias. Confirmability is the researcher's ability to show the data is accurate of the participant's response and not reflective of the researcher's biases (Cope, 2014). The researcher ensures confirmability through comparison of raw data and conclusions (Alparslan & İcbay, 2017). Researchers engage in reflexivity as a continuous process of analyzing their subjective role to ensure dependability and conformity of data (Darawsheh, 2014). Researchers use the reflexivity approach to make the appropriate adjustment to ensure the credibility of their findings (Darawsheh, 2014).

Transferability

To ensure transferability in the study, all documentation collections, and analysis of the data occurred objectively and achieved the credibility of findings. Moon et al. (2016) described transferability as a vital criterion for applying research findings to future studies. A qualitative study is aligned with transferability requirements when the findings have significant meaning for readers outside the study who can relate to the findings in the study (Cope, 2014). I provided detailed-rich data from participants 'experiences in strategies to reduce employee information overload.

Credibility

To ensure the credibility of the research findings, I used member checking with each research participant to confirm the accuracy of each interview's data. In research, creditability represents the truth of the data findings (Cope, 2014). Amankwaa (2016) noted credibility is critical to a researcher's findings. Researchers analyze different sources of data across a vast range of subjects while providing credibility to the study (Yin, 2018). I collected data from interviews and focus group discussion and used member checking to ensure credibility.

Data Saturation

It is critical for a researcher to ensure data saturation in qualitative studies. A researcher achieves data saturation when information is repetitive, no new data emerges, and additional coding is not possible (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Marshall et al. 2013).

Researchers who cannot reach data saturation impact the quality and content validity of the research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). To ensure data saturation, the interviews continued until the information was repetitive.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this study was to focus on the effective strategies healthcare operational leaders use to reduce information overload in the workplace. In section 2, the discussion included the components of the research project. The components include role of the researcher, selected participants, research method and design, population and sampling, and ethical research. Also, provided was written information on data collection instrument, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and the factors of reliability and validity in research.

In Section 3, I present a comprehensive analysis of the findings of this study and provide the application to business practice and implications for social change, recommendation for action from my findings, recommendations for future research, reflections, and conclusion of the study. The findings of this study aligned with the research questions and conceptual framework. The results in the findings obtained from interviews with the participants provided insight into effective business strategies to reduce information overload in the workplace and beneficial to the success and sustainability of most business industries. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to identify and explore the effective strategies healthcare operational leaders use to reduce information overload in the workplace. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and a focus group discussion. In this time of the COVID-19 pandemic, the interviews and discussions with participants were conducted virtually to protect participants and me from the coronavirus disease. Upon completing the interviews, I transcribed the data, conducted member checking, and performed data analysis.

Four themes emerged from the qualitative data analysis. Interview and focus group data were imported to the NVivo 12 software application after transcription and member checking. I triangulated collected data from interview transcripts and the focus group discussion. The two data collection methods supported the results of the common themes that emerged from the data analysis. I coded the data into different nodes which resulted in common themes. Most themes aligned with the conceptual framework used for this study. The four main themes of this study: (a) use of different communication methods, (b) breaks from information, (c) providing information in bits, and (d) observation of employee countenance. The findings are effective strategies healthcare operational leaders use to reduce information overload in the workplace.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question that guided this research was "What strategies do healthcare industry operational leaders use to reduce employee information overload?"

The result of the data analysis showed prominent emergent themes and strategies (see Table 2). The four main themes of this study: (a) use of different communication methods, (b) breaks from information, (c) providing information in bits, and (d) observation of employee countenance. The following sections describe all four themes and strategies generated from the findings.

Table 2

Frequency of Themes Identifying Strategies to Reduce Employee Information Overload

Theme	п	nx	% Interviews
Use of different communication methods Breaks from information	41 26	3 1	100% 100%
Providing information in bits	15	10	100%
Observation of employee countenance	15	6	100%

Note. n = interview frequency; nx = focus group frequency

Theme 1: Use of Different Communication Methods

The first theme that emerged as a strategy to effectively reduce employee information overload was the use of different communication methods. The communication can be in-person or electronic communication. In organization design, communication and coordination are the critical components and, if not correctly communicated and coordinated, can lead to information overload. Burton and Obel (2018) asserted communication is a critical part of the coordination process within an organization. The organization's choice of coordination subsequently affects its information flow and members. There are 44 unique quotes from participants related to this strategy (see Table 2). Participant PR5 noted an effective strategy to reduce employee information overload is to use different communication methods to share information with their team. Participant PR2 mentioned constant communication through employee forums and dialogues. In contrast, participant PR3 recommended fitting information into emails versus meetings. The participants in the focus group stressed in-person communication to share information and as a strategy to recognize the impact of email information overload on the employees. Specifically, the focus group implored effective strategies using rounding in-person to communicate with employees, in an effort to reduce information overload caused by electronic communication. This assertion resonated with McMurtry (2014) encouraging more interpersonal communication to decrease the volume of electronic communication.

Participant PR5 expressed that in our current world, communication is engaged more through Zoom or email. PR5 added that employees expressed, "It's too much emails." Participant PR2 agreed that employees are "extremely overwhelmed." The findings in the study correlate with the research of Saxena and Lamest (2018), who explained managers felt overwhelmed by the volume of digital information available at their disposal. Specifically, the high volume and speed of the digital data coupled with the qualitative and unsolicited nature of the information were distressing, causing an increase in information overload for managers. Participant PR5 summed up the consensus of the participants that leaders in the healthcare industry can effectively reduce information overload by balancing in-person and electronic communication methods. The theme corresponded with the working memory component of CLT. Working memory is a dynamic processing system and an essential component of CLT. It works proficiently to retain and manipulate small quantities of information to facilitate planning, problem-solving, comprehending, and reasoning (Cowan, 2017). Young et al. (2016) posited that an employee is unable to function effectively with an exceeded working memory capacity. Therefore, reducing the complexity of the information presented can alleviate cognitive overload and positively impact an individual's decision-making capacity. The next theme focused on breaks from information.

Theme 2: Breaks From Information

Breaks from information was the second theme that appeared from a detailed analysis of the interview participants 'responses and the focus group discussion of strategies used to reduce employee information overload. The theme is directly associated with CLT's ICL. It is defined as the lack of development or incompleteness of a person's cognitive schemas when faced with new information. ICL is dependent on each individual, their experience in a particular area, and the process in which they learn (Sweller, 1988). Hultberg et al. (2018) asserted the level of element interactivity of a task, the complexity, and the nature of the task determines ICL.

Providing breaks from information overload appears important for healthcare leaders. There are 27 unique quotes from participants related to this strategy (see Table 2). Five participants agree that breaks played a vital role in implementing strategies to reduce employee information overload. Participant PR4 noted, "Strategies I have implemented to reduce employee information overload involves giving breaks on topics discussed." Participant PR1 reported, "Breaks were one of the most successful strategies." Participant FG1 added, "If we have multiple objectives, multiple things going on, we put something else on the backburner, so we are not pushing every piece of information to our team at the same time." The responses of the participants implied that breaks successfully reduce information overload on employees.

Acknowledging the importance of reducing employee information overload, some participants (i.e., PR1, PR2, and PR4) mentioned the different types of breaks, including 60 seconds to close your eyes and zone out, go for a walk, a minute of daydreaming, switching focus from the topic, and 10-minute breaks. Participant PR1 encouraged "allowing people time to reset." Participant PR2 noted that "if leaders are having long training, they should have a gap in training for their employees to truly take in that information." Participant PR3 emphasized, "As leaders, we need to afford time for our employees to be effective." Based on participants responses, there are a variety of breaks from information leaders can implement to effectively reduce the impact of information on employees.

In the current research, one participant highlighted the importance of attention and breaks from overload. Participant PR2 stated, "Leaders must be able to grasp employee attention, get the work done, but also find work/life balance." In the role of attention, managing working memory function leads to a higher degree of performance (Chow & Conway, 2015; Shipstead et al., 2015). Leaders can use strategies to effectively leverage the limited capacity of employees 'working memory and improve work performance. This study also aligns with Leahy and Sweller's (2019) contention that working memory resources can be restored with periods of cognitive rest after depletion due to cognitive activity. Based on the analysis of the data, healthcare operational leaders can minimize the overload of the working memory capacity by providing breaks in between the presentation of information. The next theme focused on providing information in bits.

Theme 3: Providing Information in Bits

The third theme that emerged from the interview responses was providing information in bits. The theme directly associates with CLT's ICL, which is defined as the lack of development or incompleteness of a person's cognitive schemas when faced with new information. At any given time, the working memory can process no more than two to three items of new information (Sweller et al., 2011). An individual processing additional information will overload their working memory processing capacity, breaking down the memory system. This assertion resonated with Parte et al.'s (2018) conclusion that reducing the complexity of the material presented to the individual will help to reduce the intrinsic load on the individual.

A successful strategy of providing information in bits appears important for healthcare leaders. All participants agree that providing information in bits is one of the most effective strategies to reduce employee information overload. There are 25 unique quotes from participants related to this strategy (see Table 2). Participant PR3 noted, "Give employees information in bite-size pieces and allow them the opportunity to digest the information shared." Participant PR3 recounted their experience with information unfolding all at once during the early stage of the COVID-19 pandemic: "I changed from the previous strategy and started presenting information in chunks. I also refer my team back to previous emails if they missed anything, or if there is something else they want to read about, and to contact me if they have any further questions." Participant PR3 added, "Strategies were also most successful because providing information in bits allowed the team to receive the information in bits, allowing for easy digest and processing of information." Participant PR5 shared, "It is not about random information they do not need, but it is the easy-to-digest information that is most important to capture their attention." All focus group participants agreed that "We are combing through it for them ahead of time and giving them the important items." The responses from study participants indicated that providing bits of information to employees influences the reduction of individual intrinsic load, therefore, reducing information overload. The next theme focused on the observation of employee countenance.

Theme 4: Observation of Employee Countenance

The fourth theme that emerged from the interview responses was the observation of employee countenance. The theme emerged unexpectedly and is not related to the conceptual framework. There are 21 unique quotes from participants related to this strategy (see Table 2). All participants agreed that observing the employees to identify signs of information overload was a good strategy to aid in reducing employee information overload. Participant PR5 stated that "knowing your staff is important because you will learn what ways team members 'process information."

Participant PR4 mentioned:

Listening is key to identify the theme in the message from the employees when particular topics are presented to them. Recognizing how engaged employees respond to a topic can tell us a lot about how they feel about it, because it is either they've heard it too much, or they don't know what it is. We have to be in tune with the theme to know which one of those things it is.

Participant PR3 emphasized:

When you have a good rapport with your team, you understand their level of function at high, low, or no stress levels, understand their general countenance, and it is easy to pick up the subtle signs of information overload. You can compare normal performance levels to the variation in their standard practice. Employees may be a little overwhelmed, look at you with a blank stare, slow to respond, or not able to respond to the questions asked of them. Their responses are signs they are getting to the point of information overload."

Acknowledging the importance of reducing employee information overload, all participants observed the following signs: the rate of response to information, accuracy, alertness, facial expression, body language, change in voice tone, mannerism, and change in work performance. All participants added that observation was accomplished through department rounding, performance metrics, after-action reviews, pre-tests and post-tests, good rapport, and listening.

Applications to Professional Practice

Operational leaders can apply the findings from this study to professional practice by establishing strategies to improve productivity and efficiency, which are critical financial assets in healthcare organizations. Healthcare leaders, like most organizational leaders, have strategic goals to achieve projected financial outcomes. To successfully achieve these outcomes, leaders must promote routines that help employees avoid the problems of burnout, stress, depression, and decreased productivity. Continued focus and attention to these problems through annual training and awareness will provide a positive return on investment. Mitigating the impact of these problems can also reduce turnover costs within the organization, leading to increased profit and productivity. Professionals and consultants can help organizations develop best practices and share the strategies with their colleagues across the industry.

Operational leaders may apply the findings from this study to implement strategies to improve operations by developing an organizational culture that promotes a healthy work/life balance. Employee stress and burnout must be anticipated, and contingencies planned to ensure a balance of work that supports operations. Leaders in healthcare organizations continue to strive for increased efficiency in departments with high-throughput services (Westbrook et al., 2018). However, managing work-related stress is key for any organization trying to reduce health issues in the workplace (Mellor et al., 2013). Participants in this study confirmed that through the use of different communication methods, breaks from information, providing information in bits, and observation of employee countenance, leaders can reduce employee stress and exhaustion, increasing operational efficiencies and enhancing financial performance.

Implications for Social Change

The implication for social change includes strategies that may result in leaders developing efficient work environments that benefit both the employers and the employees with reducing information overload. Organizational leaders must devote financial resources and managerial time to developing and implementing strategies to make the best use of available information (Van Knippenberg et al., 2015). Employers can benefit from decreased turnover, enhanced innovation, improved productivity, increased employee retention, reduced cost, and job sustainability. In addition, strategies may effectively help alleviate employee stressors and emotional exhaustion and indirectly affect social change in the community by improving the overall quality of life for employees and their families.

Another potential social change implication is providing training in a variety of coping strategies to avoid information overload. Bawden and Robinson (2009) stated that the best way to individually and socially avoid information overload is through a variety of coping strategies. Gaudioso et al. (2017) found in their study that it is important for organizations to consider the relationship between stressors, strain, and coping strategies. Developing training in coping strategies to avoid information overload reduces the pressures of work time, minimizes workplace stress, limits spillage of work into home time, and increases the quality of life. Employees and their families could view businesses portraying success and care based on positive social change within their local communities.

Recommendations for Action

The information shared by the participants during the interviews and the focus group discussion may provide healthcare operational leaders with new insights they could use to effectively reduce information overload in the workplace. The failure of healthcare operational leaders to implement effective strategies to reduce information overload in the workplace might have an adverse effect on overall business operations. The high workload in healthcare along with information overload results in burnout, stress, and loss of motivation (Couto et al., 2019; Saleem et al., 2015). The knowledge shared by the participants in the current study may benefit businesses in effectively reducing information overload. The interviews with participants produced four themes: (a) use of different communication methods (b) breaks from information, (c) providing information in bits, and (d) observation of employee countenance. Based on the emerging themes, I propose three recommendations for operational leaders.

The first recommendation is for operational leaders to educate their employees on information overload and strategies to effectively reduce its impact. Internal to the organization, business leaders could include presentations during onboarding and annual refresher training. At least once a year, leaders could provide a workshop to present in detail and provide published informational literature to employees. Additional information can be made available on the company intranet page. External to the organization, operational leaders could host community events in coordination with community partners that can benefit from information overload strategies.

The second recommendation is for operational leaders to involve employees in the development of policies to manage the communication of information in the workplace. Use of different communication methods is the most significant recommendation based on study results. Operational leaders should solicit input from employees through questionnaires, surveys, focus groups, or meetings. Moreover, leaders can obtain a consensus of what matters to individual departments in formulating the details of the policies.

The third recommendation is for operational leaders to develop and implement workflow designs, schedules, and programs that encourage breaks in work activities. Breaks are the second significant recommendation based on study results. Operational leaders could involve employees in the development and active participation of the programs. Continuous involvement of employees and operational leaders after implementation would be essential for success.

The recommendations stated above could be disseminated through presentations to the target audience in the organization. I will share the results of this research with healthcare industry leaders through scholarly journals and business publications. I will also deliver the findings of this research through conferences. Finally, I will share the results of this research through formal and informal meetings with interested managers, colleagues, and friends in my professional network.

Recommendations for Further Research

This study is not without limitations. Based on the results found in this research, I offer five recommendations worthy for possible research direction. There is a multitude of research avenues that could develop from these five recommendations. The focus of this study can be extended in future research.

• The first recommendation is this research should be repeated with larger demographics; using multiple case studies might achieve additional knowledge on effective strategies to reduce information overload.

- The second recommendation is to repeat this research to focus on effective training strategies to manage information overload in the workplace.
- The third recommendation is to repeat this research using different industries and target populations to reduce information overload. This study focused on the healthcare industry in the Southeast region of the United States.
- The fourth recommendation is to repeat this research with a focus on the impact of information overload on the older generation versus the younger generation. This study did not account for the difference in the age group of employees in the workplace.
- The fifth recommendation is to repeat this research to focus on the communication strategies to reduce information overload. Use of different communication methods is the most significant strategy based on the study results.

Reflections

The Doctor of Business Administration program at Walden University was both challenging and rewarding. Each approval stage was worth some type of celebration to make it over each hurdle. I started the journey with two main goals: to achieve a higher education degree that refine the capabilities inside me and to expand my business horizons for the future. The two most essential competencies I achieved in this journey are critical thinking and problem-solving skills. In every step of the program, I developed greater confidence in the processes of professional academic research. Through the journey towards completion, I engaged the use of many resources available at Walden University.

The topic of this research, effective strategies to reduce information overload in the workplace, was selected due to personal and professional interest while I was in the military. I started my career in the U.S Army healthcare system and experienced the challenge of information overload in the workplace. When I retired from the military, working for two companies in the civilian healthcare system, I observed the same challenges with information overload. However, no one was addressing the problem in either organization. I was convinced this was my focus to explore and publish research that would help operational leaders implement strategies to effectively reduce information overload in the healthcare industry.

Conclusion

The purpose of this research was to explore effective strategies healthcare operational leaders use to reduce information overload in the workplace. The specific business problem was investigated from the perspective of operational leaders in the healthcare industry. The data were collected using semistructured interviews and a focus group discussion. Semistructured interviews comprising five operational leaders and a focus group comprising three operational leaders provided data for the study.

In this study, I was able to obtain relevant strategies from participants in reducing information overload in the workplace. Four themes emerged from the research interviews and the focus group discussion with participants: (a) use of different communication methods (b) breaks from information, (c) providing information in bits, and (d) observation of employee countenance. Participants confirmed communication as the most significant strategy to effectively reduce information overload in the workplace. This study's findings contribute to the existing knowledge regarding information overload and can be useful to operational leaders in other industries. Additionally, the findings can promote positive social change by providing coping strategies to avoid information overload to reduce workplace stress, limit spillage of work into home life, and increase the quality of life for employees.

References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66–98.
 https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Acaster, S., Dickerhoof, R., DeBusk, K., Bernard, K., Strauss, W., & Allen, L. F. (2015). Deficiency anemia. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes*, 13(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-015-0257-x
- Adams, R., Jones, A., Lefmann, S., Sheppard, L. (2014). Utilising a collective case study system theory mixed methods approach: A rural health example. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 14(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-94
- Alavi, S. B., & Gill, C. (2016). Leading change authentically. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 24(2), 157–171.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051816664681

- Alderfer, M. A., & Sood, E. (2016). Using qualitative research methods to improve clinical care in pediatric psychology. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology*, 4(4), 358–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cpp0000164</u>
- Almalki, S. (2016). Integrating quantitative and qualitative data in mixed methods:
 Research challenges and benefits. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 5(3), 288–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v5n3p288</u>

- Alparslan, E. M., & İcbay, M. A. (2017). Teachers' opinions on interactive white board and its use: A case study. *International Journal of Turkish Literature, Culture, Education*, 6(6), 1778–1797. <u>https://doi.org/10.7884/teke.3906</u>
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. *English Linguistics Research*, 3(1), 39–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/elr.v3n1p39</u>
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(3), 121–127. <u>http://tuckerpub.com/jcd.htm</u>
- Amir, A. F., Pennington-Gray, L., Barbe, D., & Hanafiah, M. H. M. (2018). Exploring National Tourism Organizations '(NTOs) use of YouTube to communicate information on destination safety and security. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(16), 247–266.

https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i16/5131

Anderson, K. T., & Holloway-Libell, J. (2014). A review of "interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences." *The Journal of Educational Research*, 107(5), 428–428.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2014.938514

Ansah, S. O., Azasoo, J. Q., & Adu, I. N. (2016). Understanding the effects of technostress on the performance of banking staff. *International Journal of Business Continuity and Risk Management*, 6(3), 222–237.

https://doi.org/10.1504/ijbcrm.2016.079010

Aravamudhan, N. R., & Krishnaveni, R. (2015). Establishing and reporting content validity evidence of new training and development capacity building scale

(TDCBS). Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues, 20(1), 131–158. <u>https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/doaj/13310194/2015/00000020/000000</u> 01

- Archibald, M. M. (2016). Investigator triangulation: A collaborative strategy with potential for mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 10(3), 228–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815570092</u>
- Asanda, M. N., Chisoro, C., & Anis, M. K. (2016). Investigating the internal factors affecting the training and development of sugar engineers: A case study of Tongaat Hulett Suger (South Africa). *Kuwait Chapter of the Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, *5*(12), 101–143.
 https://doi.org/10.12816/0028284
- Atanasoff, L., & Venable, M. A. (2017). Technostress: Implications for adults in the workforce. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 65(4), 326–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cdq.12111</u>
- Badcock, P. B., Davey, C. G., Whittle, S., Allen, N. B., & Friston, K. J. (2017). The depressed brain: An evolutionary systems theory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(3), 182–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.01.005</u>
- Baran, M. L., & Jones, J. E. (2016). Mixed methods for improved scientific study. USA Information Science Reference Publishers.

- Barnwell, D. J., Jr. (2015). Strategies to overcome barriers to a more effective leadership style (UMI No. 1751011259) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ScholarWorks.
- Baskarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *Qualitative Reporter*, *19*(40), 1– 18. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss40/3</u>
- Bawden, D., & Robinson, L. (2009). The dark side of information: Overload, anxiety and other paradoxes and pathologies. *Journal of Information Science*, 35(2), 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551508095781
- Bazeley, P. (2015). Mixed methods in management research: Implications for the field.
 Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods, 13(1), 27–35.
 http://www.ejbrm.com/main.html
- Beauvais, B., Richter, J. P., & Kim, F. S. (2019). Doing well by doing good. *Health Care Management Review*, 44(1), 2–9.

https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.000000000000163

- Becvar, R. J., & Becvar, D. S. (2017). Facilitating peace. *Peace Leadership*, 15–29. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315642680-2
- Belmont Report, The. (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.

http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html#

Belinfanti, T., & Stout, L. (2018). Contested visions: The value of systems theory for corporate law. University of Pennsylvania Law Review.

https://doi.org/10.31228/osf.io/sej8t

Bendell, J., Sutherland, N., & Little, R. (2017). Beyond unsustainable leadership: Critical social theory for sustainable leadership. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, 8(4), 418–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/sampj-08-2016-0048</u>

Benselin, J. C., & Ragsdell, G. (2016). Information overload: The differences that age makes. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 48(3), 284–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000614566341</u>

Berisha-Shaqiri, A. (2015). Management information system and competitive advantage. Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences. 6(1), 204–208.

https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n1p204

- Berisha-Shaqiri, A., & Berisha-Namani, M. (2015). Information technology and the digital economy. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*. 6(6), 78–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n6p78</u>
- Beven, K. (2006). A manifesto for the equifinality thesis. *Journal of Hydrology*, *320*(1-2), 18–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.07.007</u>
- Birks, M., & Mills, J. (2015). Grounded theory: A practical guide. Sage.
- Birt, L. L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. Qualitative Health Research, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:* An International Journal, 19(4), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053

Bodoh, J., Melewar, T. C., Nguyen, B., & Tan, M. A. (2015). Exploring the corporate image formation process. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 18(1), 86–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-05-2014-0046</u>

Bonneville, L., & Grosjean, S. (2016). Information-communication technologies (ICTs) and time pressures: A case study of nurse-managers strategies to "let go". *Canadian Journal of Nursing Informatics*, 11(2), 1–17.
http://cjni.net/journal/?p=4768

- Borkovich, D. J., & Skovira, R. J. (2017). Empowering employees with digital agility:
 Mitigation strategies for information glut. *Issues in Information Systems*, 18(4), 146–157. <u>http://www.iacis.org/iis/iis.php</u>
- Brody, B., Migueles, S. A., & Wendler, D. (2015). Should all research subjects be treated the same? *Hastings Center Report*, 45(1), 17–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.414</u>
- Broks, A. (2016). Systems theory of systems thinking general and particular within modern science and technology education. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 15(4), 408–410. <u>http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=1217750</u>
- Brooks, S., & Califf, C. (2017). Social media-induced technostress: Its impact on the job performance of its professionals and the moderating role of job characteristics.
 Computer Networks, 114, 143–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comnet.2016.08.020</u>

 Brooks, J. S., & Normore, A. H. (2015). Qualitative research and educational leadership: Essential dynamics to consider when designing and conducting studies. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 29(7), 798–806.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijem-06-2015-0083</u> Brown, S. A., Sullivan, Y. W., & Venkatesh, V. (2016). Guidelines for conducting mixed-methods research: An extension and illustration. *Journal of the Association* for Information Systems, 17, 435–494. <u>http://aisel.aisnet.org</u>

Buckland, M. (2017). Information and society. MIT Press.

- Burden, R. (2018). Systems theory and its relevance to schools. In B. Gillham (Ed.), *Problem behaviour in the secondary school: A systems approach*. Routledge.
- Burnett, M., & Pettijohn, C. (2015). Investigating the efficacy of mind-body therapies and emotional intelligence on worker stress in an organizational setting: An experimental approach (UMI No. 1693690476) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ScholarWorks.
- Burton, R. M., & Obel, B. (2018). The science of organizational design: Fit between structure and coordination. *Journal of Organization Design*, 7(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41469-018-0029-2</u>
- Butina, M. (2015). A narrative approach to qualitative inquiry. American Society for Clinical Laboratory Science, 28(3), 190–196. https://doi.org/10.29074/ascls.28.3.190
- Cao, X., Guo, X., Vogel, D., & Zhang, X. (2016). Exploring the influence of social media on employee work performance. *Internet Research*, 26(2), 529–545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/intr-11-2014-0299</u>
- Cao, S., & Liu, Y. (2013). Effects of concurrent tasks on diagnostic decision making: An experimental investigation. *IIE Transactions on Healthcare Systems Engineering*, 3(4), 254–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19488300.2013.858378</u>

Caretta, M. A. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research. *Qualitative Research*, 16(3), 305–318.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115606495

- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 545–547. <u>https://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.545-547</u>
- Chae, J., Lee, C., & Jensen, J. D. (2016). Correlates of cancer information overload:
 Focusing on individual ability and motivation. *Health Communication*, *31*(5), 626–634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2014.986026</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *How to protect yourself & others*. National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD), Division of Viral Diseases. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-</u> <u>sick/prevention.html</u>
- Chandra, Y., & Shang, L. (2017). An RQDA-based constructivist methodology for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 20(1), 90–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-02-2016-0014</u>
- Chang, D. F. (2014). Increasing the trustworthiness of qualitative research with member checking. *PsycEXTRA Dataset*, *12*(4), 6–15.

https://doi.org/10.1037/e530492014-001

Chemers, M. (2014). An integrative theory of leadership. Psychology Press.

- Chiu, S., Yeh, S., & Huang, T. C. (2015). Role stressors and employee deviance: The moderating effect of social support. *Personnel Review*, 44(2), 308–324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-11-2012-0191</u>
- Cho, J., Lee, H. E., & Kim, H. (2019). Effects of communication-oriented overload in mobile instant messaging on role stressors, burnout, and turnover intention in the workplace. *International Journal of Communication*, 13(21), 1743–1763. <u>https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/9290/2623</u>
- Chow, M., & Conway, A. R. (2015). The scope and control of attention: Sources of variance in working memory capacity. *Memory & Cognition*, 43(3), 325–339. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-014-0496-9
- Cincotta, D. (2015). An ethnography: An inquiry into agency alignment meetings. Business Studies Journal, 7(1), 95–106.

http://alliedacademies.org/Public/Default.aspx

Clarke, M. A., Belden, J. L., Koopman, R. J., Steege, L. M., Moore, J. L., Canfield, S. M., & Kim, M. S. (2013). Information needs and information-seeking behaviour analysis of primary care physicians and nurses: A literature review. *Health Information & Libraries Journal*, *30*(3), 178–190.
https://doi.org/10.1111/hir.12036

Cleland, J. & Durning, S. J. (2015). Researching medical education. John Wiley & Sons.

Combs, K. M. (2017). *Strategies for retaining employees for call centers* (AAT 1868839781) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ScholarWorks.

- Colligan, L., & Bass, E. J. (2012). Interruption handling strategies during paediatric medication administration. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 21(11), 912–917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000292</u>
- Constantinidis, C., & Klingberg, T. (2016). The neuroscience of working memory capacity and training. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *17*(7), 438–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.43</u>
- Conway, P. H., Coyle, S., & Sonnenfeld, N. (2017). Partnership for patients. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 62(3), 166–170.

https://doi.org/10.1097/jhm-d-17-00039

- Cooper, I. A. (2016). *The first 4 years: A small business sustainability study* (UMI No. 10159893) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ScholarWorks.
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(1), 89–91.

https://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.89-91

Couto, J., dos Santos, L. P., Mendes, T., & López, R. (2019). Institutional factors in the medical burnout epidemic. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*, *41*(2), 191–192.

https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2018-0340

- Cowan, J. (2017). Linking reflective activities for self-managed development of higherlevel abilities. *Journal of Perspectives in Applied Academic Practice*, 5(1), 67–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.14297/jpaap.v5i1.242</u>
- Cowan, N. (2016). Working memory capacity: Classic edition. Routledge.

Cuckler, G. A., Sisko, A. M., Poisal, J. A., Keehan, S. P., Smith, S. D., Madison, A. J., Wolfe, C. J, & Hardesty, J. C. (2018). National health expenditure projections, 2017–26: Despite uncertainty, fundamentals primarily drive spending growth. *Health Affairs*, 37(3), 482–492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1655</u>

Crandall, P. G., O'Bryan, C. A., Grinstead, D. A., Das, K., Rose, C., & Shabatura, J. J.
(2016). Role of ethnographic research for assessing behavior of employees during cleaning and sanitation in food preparation areas. *Food Control, 59*, 849–853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.07.008

Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research: Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *36*(4), 253–263.

https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000253

- Darawsheh, W. (2014). Reflexivity in research: Promoting rigour, reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 21(12), 560-568. https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2014.21.12.560_
- D'Esposito, M., & Postle, B. R. (2015). The cognitive neuroscience of working memory. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66(1), 115–142. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015031
- Davenport, T.H. and Prusak, L. (1997). *Information ecology: Mastering the information and knowledge environment*. Oxford University Press.
- De Wet, W., & Koekemoer, E. (2016). The increased use of information and communication technology (ICT) among employees: Implications for work-life

interaction. South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, 19(2), 282–201. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v19i2.1328_

- Delbridge, K. A. (2000). Individual differences in multi-tasking ability: Exploring a nomological network (UMI No. 3000529) [Doctoral dissertation, Michigan State University] ProQuest.
- Demishkevich, M. (2015). Small business use of Internet marketing: Findings from case studies (UMI No. 3717534) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ScholarWorks.
- Denzin, N. K., & Giardina, M. D. (Eds.). (2016). *Qualitative inquiry and global crises*. Routledge.
- Dinh, J. E., Lord, R. G., Gardner, W. L., Meuser, J. D., Liden, R. C., & Hu, J. (2014). Leadership theory and research in the new millennium: Current theoretical trends and changing perspectives. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 36–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.005_

Douglas, H. E., Raban, M. Z., Walter, S. R., & Westbrook, J. I. (2017). Improving our understanding of multi-tasking in healthcare: Drawing together the cognitive psychology and healthcare literature. *Applied Ergonomics*, 59, 45–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2016.08.021</u>

Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41(6), 1319–1320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6</u>

- Dyrbye, L. N., Awad, K. M., Fiscus, L. C., Sinsky, C. A., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2019). Estimating the attributable cost of physician burnout in the United States. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 171(8), 600–601. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/119-0522</u>
- Edmunds, A., & Morris, A. (2000). The problem of information overload in business organizations: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Information Management*, 20(1), 17–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0268-4012(99)00051-1</u>
- Edmunds, W. A., & Kennedy, T. D. (2017). An applied guide to research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. Sage.
- Ellwart, T., Happ, C., Gurtner, A., & Rack, O. (2015). Managing information overload in virtual teams: Effects of a structured online team adaptation on cognition and performance. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24(5), 812–826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2014.1000873</u>
- El-Masri, M. M. (2017). Introduction to research sampling. *Canadian Nurse*, *113*(1), 20–23. <u>https://www.canadian-nurse.com</u>
- Engle, R. W. (2018). Working memory and executive attention: A revisit. *Perspectives* on *Psychological Science*, *13*(2), 190–193.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617720478

- Eppler, M. J., & Mengis, J. (2003). A framework for information overload research in organizations. Università della Svizzera Italiana. <u>http://doc.rero.ch/record/5206</u>
- Eppler, M. J., & Mengis, J. (2004). The concept of information overload: A review of literature from organization science, accounting, marketing, MIS, and related

disciplines. The Information Society, 20(5), 325–344.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01972240490507974

- Felstead, A., Gallie, D., Green, F., & Henseke, G. (2016). The determinants of skills use and work pressure: A longitudinal analysis. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 40(3), 730–754. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831x16656412</u>
- Florea, R., & Florea, R. (2016). Individual and organizational implications of workrelated stress. *Economy Transdisciplinarity Cognition*, 19(1), 28–33. http://etc.ugb.ro/
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/</u>
- Galbraith, J. R. (1974). Organization design: An information processing view. *Interfaces*, 4(3), 28–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/inte.4.3.28</u>
- Galbraith, J. (2014). *Designing organizations: An executive guide to strategy, structure, and process* (3rd ed). Jossey-Bass & Pfeiffer Imprints.
- Garrity, B. K. F., & Fiedler, R. C. (2016). A quantitative analysis of the effects of postsecondary institution conversions from not-for-profit to for-profit. *Public Organization Review*, 16(3), 371–389.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-015-0313-3

Gaspar, J. M., Christie, G. J., Prime, D. J., Jolicœur, P., & Mcdonald, J. J. (2016).
 Inability to suppress salient distractors predicts low visual working memory capacity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(13), 3693–3698.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523471113</u>
Gaudioso, F., Turel, O., & Galimberti, C. (2017). The mediating roles of strain facets and coping strategies in translating techno-stressors into adverse job outcomes. *Computers in Human Behavior, 69*, 189–196.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.041

- Gelling, L. (2015). Qualitative research. *Nursing Standard*, 29(30), 43–47. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.30.43.e9749_
- Gilbert, T. F. (2007). Human competence: Engineering worthy performance. Pfeiffer.
- Gilbert, D. T., & Osborne, R. E. (1989). Thinking backward: Some curable and incurable consequences of cognitive. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*(6), 940–949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.940</u>
- Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G., & Hamilton, A. L. (2013). Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research notes on the Gioia methodology. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16(1), 15–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428112452151</u>
- Gläser, J., & Laudel, G. (2013). Life with and without coding: Two methods for earlystage data analysis in qualitative research aiming at causal explanations. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 14*, 1–37.

https://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs

- Goertzen, M. J. (2017). Introduction to quantitative research and data. *Library Technology Reports*, 53, 12–18. <u>https://librarytechnology.org/</u>
- Graf, B., & Antoni, C. H. (2020). The relationship between information characteristics and information overload at the workplace - a meta-analysis. *European Journal of*

Work and Organizational Psychology, 30(1), 143–158.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2020.1813111

- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20(3), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Gruszka, A., & Nęcka, E. (2017). Limitations of working memory capacity: The cognitive and social consequences. *European Management Journal*, 35(6), 776– 784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2017.07.001</u>
- Guercinie, S. (2014). New qualitative research methodologies in management. Management Decision, 52(4), 662–674.

https://doi.org/10.1108/md-11-2013-0592

Gurbin, T. (2015). Enlivening the machinist perspective: Humanising the information processing theory with social and cultural influences. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 197, 2331–2338.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.263

- Haight, J. M., Wetz Jr., H. F., Daves, L. J., & Olumese, O. D. (2018). Patient safety:
 Hospital technicians & information overload. *Professional Safety Journal of the American Society of Safety Professionals*, 63(12), 24–29. <u>https://www.assp.org/</u>
- Harrison, H., & Mills, J. (2016). Case study: A good choice for nursing and midwifery research. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, 20(3), 179–182. https://he02.tci-thaijo.org/index.php/PRIJNR/article/view/61631
- Hartman, M., Martin, A. B., Espinosa, N., Catlin, A., & The National Health Expenditure Account Team (2018). National health care spending in 2016: Spending and

enrollment growth slow after initial coverage expansions. *Health Affairs*, *37*(1), 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1299

- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487</u>
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94(2), 172–183. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12074_
- Hobfoll, S. E., Johnson, R. J., Ennis, N., & Jackson, A. P. (2003). Resource loss, resource gain, and emotional outcomes among inner city women. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 85(2), 248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.248</u>
- Holmberg, U., & Madsen, K. (2014). Rapport operationalized as a humanitarian interview in investigative interview settings. *Psychiatry, Psychology, and Law*, 21(4), 591–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2013.873975</u>
- Hoq, K. M. G. (2016). Information overload: Causes, consequences and remedies: A study. *Philosophy and Progress*, 55(1-2), 49–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.3329/pp.v55i1-2.26390</u>
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 2094), 12–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326</u>

- Houser, J. (2013). *Nursing research: Reading, using, and creating evidence* (2nd ed.). Jones and Bartlett Learning.
- Hu, P. J-H., Hu, H-F., & Fang, X. (2017). Examining the mediating roles of cognitive load and performance outcomes in user satisfaction with a website: A field quasi-experiment. *MIS Quarterly*, *41*(3), 975–988.
 https://doi.org/10.25300/misq/2017/41.3.14

Hultberg, P., Santandreu Calonge, D., & Safiullin Lee, A. E. (2018). Promoting longlasting learning through instructional design. *Journal of the Scholarship of*

Teaching and Learning, 18(3), 26–43.

https://doi.org/10.14434/josotl.v18i3.23179

Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 9(1), 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.23606

- Idris, M. A., Dollard, M. F., & Tuckey, M. R. (2015). Psychosocial safety climate as a management tool for employee engagement and performance: A multilevel analysis. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 22(2), 183–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038986</u>
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2012). Am I not answering your questions properly?: Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 13(1), 87–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112439086</u>

Iskander, M. (2018). Burnout, cognitive overload, and metacognition in medicine. *Medical Science Educator*, 29(1), 325–328.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40670-018-00654-5

- Jabbar, A., & Hussein, A. (2017). The role of leadership in strategic management. International Journal of Research-Granthaalayah, 5(5), 99–106. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.29121/granthaalayah.v5.i5.2017.1841</u>
- Jarzabkowski, P., Bednarek, R., & Cabantous, L. (2015). Conducting global team-based ethnography: Methodological challenges and practical methods. *Human Relations*, 68(1), 3–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726714535449</u>
- Jeske, D., & Axtell, C. (2014). e-Internships: Prevalence, characteristics and role of student perspectives. *Internet Research*, 24(4), 457–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/intr-11-2012-0226</u>
- Johnston, B. (2015). Confidentiality and qualitative research. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, 21(1), 3–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijpn.2015.21.1.3</u>
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management, 34*(6), 1043–1056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005</u>
- Kaczynak, D., Salmona, M., & Smith, T. (2014). Qualitative research in finance. Australian Journal of Management, 39(1), 127–135.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896212469611

Karr-Wisniewski, P., & Lu, Y. (2010). When more is too much: Operationalizing technology overload and exploring its impact on knowledge worker productivity.

Computers in Human Behavior, 26(5), 1061–1072.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.03.008

- Kern, F. G. (2016). The trials and tribulations of applied triangulation: Weighing different data sources. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12(2), 166–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689816651032</u>
- Kim, K., Mithas, S., & Kimbrough, M. (2017). Information technology investments and firm risk across industries: Evidence from the bond market. *MIS Quarterly*, 41(4), 1347–1368. https://doi.org/10.25300/misq/2017/41.4.15
- Kirschner, P. A., Sweller, J., Kirschner, F., & Zambrano R., J. (2018). From cognitive load theory to collaborative cognitive load theory. *International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning*, 13(2), 213–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11412-018-9277-y</u>
- Klerings, I., Weinhandl, A. S., & Thaler, K. J. (2015). Information overload in healthcare: Too much of a good thing? *Zeitschrift Für Evidenz, Fortbildung Und Qualität Im Gesundheitswesen, 109*(4-5), 285–290.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zefq.2015.06.005 /

Koh, E., & Lim, J. (2012). Too early, too bad: Uncovering and understanding the initial participation paradox in technology-mediated learning teams. *IEEE Transactions* on Professional Communication, 55(1), 55–84.

https://doi.org/10.1109/tpc.2011.2172122

- Kumaran, D., Hassabis, D., & McClelland, J. L. (2016). What learning systems do intelligent agents need? Complementary learning systems theory updated. *Trends* in Cognitive Sciences, 20(7), 512–534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.05.004</u>
- Lankton, N. K., Speier, C., &Wilson, E. V. (2012). Internet-based knowledge acquisition: Task complexity and performance. *Decision Support Systems*, *53*(1), 55–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2011.12.004</u>
- Leahy, W. & Sweller, J. (2019). Cognitive load theory, resource depletion and the delayed testing effect. *Educational Psychology Review*, 31(2), 457–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09476-2</u>
- Lebbon, A. R., & Sigurjónsson, J. G. (2016). Debunking the instant messaging myth? International Journal of Information Management, 36(3), 433–440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.02.003</u>
- Lee, B. C., & Duffy, V. G. (2015). The effects of task interruption on human performance: A study of the systematic classification of human behavior and interruption frequency. *Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries*, 25(2), 137–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hfm.20603</u>
- Lee, A. R., Son, S. M., & Kim, K. K. (2016). Information and communication technology overload and social networking service fatigue: A stress perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 55, 51–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.011</u>
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2010). *Practical research: Planning and design* (9th ed.). Prentice Hall.

- Leppink, J., & van den Heuvel, A. (2015). The evolution of cognitive load theory and its application to medical education. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 4(3), 119– 127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-015-0192-x
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306</u>
- Lo, M.-C., Ramayah, T., & Wang, Y. C. (2015). Sustainable leadership: Power of influence in MNCS in Malaysia. *Applied Economics*, 47(30), 3198–3215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2015.1013610</u>
- Lunde, A., Heggen, K., & Strand, R. (2013). Knowledge and power. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 7(2), 197–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689812471087</u>
- Maceli, M., & Burke, J. J. (2016). Technology skills in the workplace: Information professionals' current use and future aspirations. *Information Technology and Libraries (Online)*, 35(4), 35–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.6017/ital.v35i4.9540</u>
- Madeira, J. L. (2015). The art of informed consent: Assessing patient perceptions, behaviors, and lived experience of IVF and embryo disposition informed consent processes. *Family Law Quarterly*, 49(1), 7–28. http://www.repository.law.indiana.edu/
- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014). Awareness and minimisation of systematic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, 23(5), 279–282.
 https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2014.23.5.279

- Mancinetti, M., Guttormsen, S., & Berendonk, C. (2019). Cognitive load in internal medicine: What every clinical teacher should know about cognitive load theory. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 60, 4–8.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2018.08.013
- Manley, K., Martin, A., Jackson, C., & Wright, T. (2016). Using systems thinking to identify workforce enablers for a whole systems approach to urgent and emergency care delivery: A multiple case study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16(368), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1616-y</u>
- Manuti, A., Pastore, S., Scardigno, A. F., Giancaspro, M. L., & Morciano, D. (2015).
 Formal and informal learning in the workplace: A research review. *International Journal of Training and Development*, *19*(1), 1–17.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12044
- Marinaccio, A., Ferrante, P., Corfiati, M., Di Tecco, C., Rondinone, B. M., Bonafede, M., Ronchetti, M., Persechino, B., Iavicoli, S. (2013). The relevance of socio-demographic and occupational variables for the assessment of work-related stress risk. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-1157
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11–22.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645662

Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage.

- Maxwell, J. A. (2016). Expanding the history and range of mixed methods research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 10(1), 12–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815571132
- Mellor, N., Smith, P., Mackay, C., & Palferman, D. (2013). The "management standards" for stress in large organizations. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 6(1), 4–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17538351311312295</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2014). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McMurtry, K. (2014). Managing Email Overload in the Workplace. *Performance Improvement*, 53(7), 31–37. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21424
- Miller, G. A. (1956). The magical number seven, plus or minus two: Some limits on our capacity for processing information. *Psychological Review*, 63(2), 81–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0043158</u>
- Misra, S., Roberts, P., & Rhodes, M. (2020). Information overload, stress, and emergency managerial thinking. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 51, 101762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101762</u>
- Monsell, S. (2003). Task switching. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(3), 134–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1364-6613(03)00028-7_

- Montero-Marin, J., Zubiaga, F., Cereceda, M., Piva Demarzo, M. M., Trenc, P., &
 Garcia-Campayo, J. (2016). Burnout subtypes and absence of self-compassion in primary healthcare professionals: A cross-sectional study. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(6),
 ARTICLE e0157499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157499</u>
- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology & Society*, 21(3), 133–152.
 https://doi.org/10.5751/es-08663-210317
- Moran, T. P. (2016). Anxiety and working memory capacity: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(8), 831–864. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000051
- Morgan-Trimmer, S., & Wood, F. (2016). Ethnographic methods for process evaluations of complex health behaviour interventions. *Trials*, *17*(1), 1–11.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1340-2

Morse, J. M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., & Spiers, J. (2002). Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 1(2), 13–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690200100202</u>

Moustakas, C. E. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage.

Moy, N., Chan, H. F., & Torgler, B. (2018). How much is too much? The effects of information quantity on crowdfunding performance. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(3),
ARTICLE e0192012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192012</u>

Moylan, C., Derr, A., & Lindhorst, T. (2015). Increasingly mobile: How new technologies can enhance qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work, 14*(1), 36–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325013516988</u>

Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 14(1), 108–114.
https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-108

Myers, A., Cain, A., Franz, B., & Skinner, D. (2019). Should hospital emergency departments be used as revenue streams despite needs to curb overutilization?
 AMA Journal of Ethics, 21(3), 207–214.

https://doi.org/10.1001/amajethics.2019.207

- Nielsen, H. J., & Hjørland, B. (2014). Curating research data: The potential roles of libraries and information professionals. *Journal of Documentation*, 70(2), 221–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jd-03-2013-0034</u>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- Oberauer, K., Farrell, S., Jarrold, C., & Lewandowsky, S. (2016). What limits working memory capacity? *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(7), 758–799. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000046</u>

O'Keeffe, J., Buytaert, W., Mijic, A., Brozović, N., & Sinha, R. (2016). The use of semistructured interviews for the characterisation of farmer irrigation practices. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 20(5), 1911–1924. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-20-1911-2016

- Oldham, G. R., & Da Silva, N. (2015). The impact of digital technology on the generation and implementation of creative ideas in the workplace. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 42, 5–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.041</u>
- Oltmann, S. M. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. Forum: *Qualitative Social Research Sozialforschung*, *17*(2), 1–16. <u>http://www.qualitative-research.net/</u>
- Onen, D. (2016). Appropriate conceptualisation: The foundation of any solid quantitative research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 14(1), 28–38. <u>http://www.ejbrm.com/main.html</u>
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, 6(1), 183–246.

https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399

- Ottmann, G., & Crosbie, J. (2013). Mixed method approaches in open-ended, qualitative, exploratory research involving people with intellectual disabilities: A comparative methods study. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, *17*(3), 182–197.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629513494927
- Ozkula G, & Durukan E. (2017). Burnout syndrome among physicians: The role of sociodemographic characteristics. *Dusunen Adam: The Journal of Psychiatry and Neurological Sciences*, 30,136–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.5350/DAJPN2017300207</u>

- Pacauskas, D., & Rajala, R. (2017). Information system users 'creativity: A meta-analysis of the link between IT use and creative performance. *Information Technology & People*, 30(1), 81–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-04-2015-0090</u>
- Pacho, T. O. (2015). Exploring participants 'experiences using case study. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 5(4), 44–53. <u>http://www.ijhssnet.com/</u>
- Padgett, J., Gossett, K., Mayer, R., Chien, W. W., & Turner, F. (2017). Improving patient safety through high reliability organizations. *Qualitative Report*, 22(2/4), 410– 425. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol22/iss2/4
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Park, D. C., Hertzog, C., Leventhal, H., Morrell, R. W., Leventhal, E., Birchmore, D., Martin, M., & Bennett, J. (1999). Medication adherence in rheumatoid arthritis patients: Older is wiser. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 47(2), 172– 183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1999.tb04575.x
- Parte, L., Garvey, A. M., & Gonzalo-Angulo, J. A. (2018). Cognitive load theory: Why it's important for international business teaching and financial reporting. *Journal* of Teaching in International Business, 29(2), 134–160.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08975930.2018.1480991

Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Sage.

- Paul, S., & Nazareth, D. L. (2010). Input information complexity, perceived time pressure, and information processing in GSS-based work groups: An experimental investigation using a decision schema to alleviate information overload conditions. *Decision Support Systems, 49*(1), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2009.12.007
- Paulus, T., Lester, J., & Britt, V. (2013). Constructing hopes and fears around technology: A discourse analysis of introductory qualitative research texts. *Qualitative Inquiry, 19*(9), 639–651. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800413500929</u>
- Paulus, T., Woods, M., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2017). The discourse of QDAS: Reporting practices of ATLAS.ti and NVivo users with implications for best practices. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(1), 35–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1102454</u>
- Pershing, J. A. (2016). Looking back to look forward: Pathfinders No. 2: Gilbert: The father of human performance technology. *Performance Improvement*, 55(2), 27–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21554</u>
- Pollard, M. A., & Courage, M. L. (2017). Working memory capacity predicts effective multitasking. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 76, 450–462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.08.008</u>

Postholm, M. B., & Skrøvset, S. (2013). The researcher reflecting on her own role during action research. *Educational Action Research*, 21(4), 506–518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2013.833798</u> Qu, S. Q., & & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8(3), 238–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/11766091111162070</u>

Ramrathan, D., & Sibanda, M. (2017). The impact of information technology advancement on intuition in organisations: A phenomenological approach. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 51(1), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2017.0012

- Redick, T. S., Shipstead, Z., Meier, M. E., Montroy, J. J., Hicks, K. L., Unsworth, N., Kane, M., Hambrick, D. Z., & Engle, R. W. (2016). Cognitive predictors of a common multitasking ability: Contributions from working memory, attention control, and fluid intelligence. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *145*(11), 1473–1492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000219</u>
- Reinke, K., & Chamorro-Premuzic, T. (2014). When e-mail use gets out of control: Understanding the relationship between personality and e-mail overload and their impact on burnout and work engagement. *Computers in Human Behavior, 36*, 502–509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.03.075</u>
- Richardson, F. W. (2014). Enhancing strategies to improve workplace performance (UMI No. 1648644724) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ScholarWorks.
- Richter, J. P., & Muhlestein, D. B. (2017). Patient experience and hospital profitability: Is there a link? *Health Care Management Review*, 42(3), 247–257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.00000000000105</u>

- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (2013). Development and validation of criterion-referenced clinically relevant fitness standards for maintaining physical independence in later years. *The Gerontologist*, 53(2), 255–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns071</u>
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (Eds.). (2013). *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*. Sage.
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Roetzel, P. G. (2018). Information overload in the information age: A review of the literature from business administration, business psychology, and related disciplines with a bibliometric approach and framework development. *Business Research*, *12*(2), 479–522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-018-0069-z</u>
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(4), 509–516.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021

- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35(3/4), 260–271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01409171211210154</u>
- Rule, P., & John, V. M. (2015). A necessary dialogue. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14(4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915611575

- Salanova, M., Llorens, S., & Ventura, M. (2014). Technostress: The dark side of technologies. *The Impact of ICT on Quality of Working Life*, 87–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8854-0_6</u>
- Saleem, M., Tufail, M. W., Atta, A., & Asghar, S. (2015). Innovative workplace behavior, motivation level, and perceived stress among healthcare employees. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences (PJCSS)*, 9(2), 438–446. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10419/188205</u>
- Sangster-Gormley, E. (2013). How case study research can help to explain implementation of the nurse practitioner role. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 6–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.6.e291</u>
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Sawyer, N. (2018). In the U.S. "healthcare" is strictly a business term. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 19(3), 494–495.

https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2018.1.37540

Saxena, D., & Lamest, M. (2018). Information overload and coping strategies in the big data context: Evidence from the hospitality sector. *Journal of Information Science*, 44(3), 287–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551517693712</u>

Sayin, H. U. (2016). A short introduction to system theory: Indispensable postulate systems and basic structures of the systems in quantum physics, biology and neuroscience. *NeuroQuantology*, 14(1), 126–142. https://doi.org/10.14704/nq.2016.14.1.855

- Sbaffi, L., Walton, J., Blenkinsopp, J., & Walton, G. (2020). Information overload in emergency medicine physicians: A multisite case study exploring the causes, impact, and solutions in four north England National Health Service trusts. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(7): ARTICLE e19126 https://doi.org/10.2196/preprints.19126
- Schneider, S. C., (1987). Information overload: Causes and consequences. *Human* Systems Management, 7(2), 143–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/hsm-1987-7207</u>
- Shanafelt, T., Goh, J., & Sinsky, C. (2017). The business case for investing in physician well-being. JAMA Internal Medicine, 177(12), 1826–1832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.4340</u>
- Shipstead, Z., Harrison, T. L., & Engle, R. W. (2015). Working memory capacity and the scope and control of attention. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics*, 77(6), 1863–1880. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-015-0899-0</u>
- Sia, S. K., & Appu, A. V. (2015). Work autonomy and workplace creativity: Moderating role of task complexity. *Global Business Review*, 16(5), 772–784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150915591435</u>
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success. Dissertation Success LLC.
- Simon, H. A., & Newell, A. (1971). Human problem solving: The state of the theory in 1970. *American Psychologist*, 26(2), 145–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0030806</u>

- Singh, S. (2015). Hello, limitations! The paradoxical power of limits in scientific writing. Indian Journal of Dermatology, Venereology, & Leprology, 81(1), 4–6. https://doi.org/10.4103/0378-6323.148555
- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2017). Developing rigor in qualitative research: Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), 101–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2017.1317357</u>
- Smith, J., & Noble, H. (2014). Bias in research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 17(4), 100– 101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2014-101946</u>
- Stake, R. E. (2013). Multiple case study analysis. Guilford Press.
- Stewart, D.W., & Shamdasani, P. M. (1990). Focus groups: Theory and practice. Sage.
- Suh, A., & Lee, J. (2017). Understanding teleworkers 'technostress and its influence on job satisfaction. *Internet Research*, 27(1), 140–159.

https://doi.org/10.1108/intr-06-2015-0181

- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. *Cognitive Science*, 12(2), 257–285. <u>http://www.gatech.edu</u>
- Sweller, J., Ayres, P., & Kalyuga, S. (2011). *Measuring cognitive load*. Springer.
- Sweller, J., & Chandler, P. (1994). Why some material is difficult to learn. *Cognition and Instruction*, *12*(3), 185–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532690xci1203_1</u>
- Sweller, J., Van Merrienboer, J. J., & Paas, F. G. (1998). Cognitive architecture and instructional design. *Educational Psychology Review*, 10(3), 251–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1022193728205</u>

- Tai, J., & Ajjawi, R. (2016). Undertaking and reporting qualitative research. *Clinical Teacher*, 13(3), 175–182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.12552</u>
- Tarafdar, M., Pullins, E. B., & Ragu-Nathan, T. S. (2014). Technostress: Negative effect on performance and possible mitigations. *Information Systems Journal*, 25(2), 103–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12042</u>
- Teshuva, K., Borowski, A., & Wells, Y. (2016). The lived experience of providing care and support services for holocaust survivors in Australia. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(7), 1104–1114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316667702</u>
- Tibben, W. J. (2015). Theory building for ICT4D: Systemizing case study research using theory triangulation. *Information Technology for Development*, 21(4), 628–652. https://doi.org/10.1080/02681102.2014.910635
- Tran, V., Porcher, R., Falissard, B., & Ravaud, P. (2016). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 80, 88–96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014

Tremblay, M. L., Lafleur, A., Leppink, J., & Dolmans, D. H. (2017). The simulated clinical environment: Cognitive and emotional impact among undergraduates. *Medical Teacher*, 39(2), 181–187.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2016.1246710

Turner, S. F., Cardinal, L. B., & Burton, R. M. (2017). Research design for mixed methods. Organizational Research Methods, 20(2), 243–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428115610808</u>

- Tushman, M. L., & Nadler, D. A. (1978). Information processing as an integrating concept in organizational design. *Academy of Management Review*, 3(3), 613–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1978.4305791</u>
- Van Knippenberg, D., Dahlander, L., Haas, M. R., & George, G. (2015). From the editors: Information, attention, and decision making. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(3), 649–657. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.4003</u>
- Vass, C., Rigby, D., & Payne, K. (2017). The role of qualitative research methods in discrete choice experiments: A systematic review and survey of authors. *Medical Decision Making*, 37(3), 298–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989x16683934</u>
- Vaughn, P., & Turner, C. (2016). Decoding via coding: Analyzing qualitative text data through thematic coding and survey methodologies. *Journal of Library Administration*, 56(1), 41–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2015.1105035</u>
- Voldnes, G., Grønhaug, K., & Sogn-Grundvåg, G. (2014). Conducting qualitative research in Russia: Challenges and advice. *Journal of East-West Business*, 20(3), 141–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10669868.2014.935548</u>
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1950). An outline of general system theory. *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, *1*(2), 134–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bjps/i.2.134</u>_
- Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 128(2), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2_
- Walton, I. (2016). Ethical research. *Midwifery Matters*, 151, 18–20.
 - http://midwifery-matters.com/

Walshe, K, & Smith, J. (2006). *Healthcare management*. McGraw-Hill Education.

- Wang, T., Wang, Y., & McLeod, A. (2018). Do health information technology investments impact hospital financial performance and productivity?
 International Journal of Accounting Information Systems, 28, 1–13.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accinf.2017.12.002
- Waring, J., Marshall, F., & Bishop, S. (2015). Understanding the occupational and organizational boundaries to safe hospital discharge. *Policy*, 20(1, Suppl.), 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1355819614552512
- Weaver, S.M., Foxe, J. J., Sphaner, S., & Wylie, J. R. (2014). You can't always get what you want: The influence of unexpected task constraint on voluntary task switching. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 67(11), 2247–2259. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2014.917115
- Weigl, M., Müller, A., Holland, S., Wedel, S., & Woloshynowych, M. (2015). Work conditions, mental workload and patient care quality: A multisource study in the emergency department. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25(7), 499–508. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2014-003744_

Westbrook, J. I., Raban, M. Z., Walter, S. R., & Douglas, H. (2018). Task errors by emergency physicians are associated with interruptions, multitasking, fatigue and working memory capacity: A prospective, direct observation study. *BMJ Quality* & Safety, 27(8), 655–663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007333</u>

- Willard-Grace, R., Knox, M., Huang, B., Hammer, H., Kivlahan, C., & Grumbach, K.
 (2019). Burnout and health care workforce turnover. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 17(1), 36–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2338</u>
- Wolgemuth, J. R., Erdil-moody, Z., Opsal, T., Cross, J. E., Kaanta, T., Dickmanss, E.,
 Colomer, S. (2015). Participants experiences of the qualitative interview: 175
 considering the importance of research paradigms. *Qualitative Research*, 15(3),
 351–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114524222</u>
- Wong, C. W., Lai, K. H., Cheng, T. C. E., & Lun, Y. V. (2015). The role of IT-enabled collaborative decision making in inter-organizational information integration to improve customer service performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 159, 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.02.019
- Wurm, W., Vogel, K., Holl, A., Ebner, C., Bayer, D., Mörkl, S., Szilagyi, I., Hotter, E.,Kapfhammer, H., Hofmann, P. (2016). Depression-burnout overlap in physicians.*PLOS ONE*, *11*(3), ARTICLE e0149913.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149913

- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). Qualitative research: An introduction. *Radiologic Technology*, 88(2), 225–231. <u>http://www.radiologictechnology.org</u>
- Yeheyis, M., Reza, B., Hewage, K., Ruwanpura, J. Y., & Sadiq, R. (2016). Evaluating motivation of construction workers: A comparison of fuzzy rule-based model with the traditional expectancy theory. *Journal of Civil Engineering and Management*, 22(7), 862–873. <u>https://doi.org/10.3846/13923730.2014.914103</u>

Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19(3), 321–332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389013497081</u>

Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage.

- Yin, P., Ou, C. X. J., Davison, R. M., & Wu, J. (2018). Coping with mobile technology overload in the workplace. *Internet Research*, 28(5), 1189–1212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/intr-01-2017-0016</u>
- Young, J. Q., ten Cate, O., O'Sullivan, P. S., & Irby, D. M. (2016). Unpacking the complexity of patient handoffs through the lens of cognitive load theory. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine*, 28(1), 88–96.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10401334.2015.1107491
- Zyphur, M., & Pierides, D. (2017). Is quantitative research ethical? Tools for ethically practicing, evaluating, and using quantitative research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 143(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8</u>

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Participant's Numeric Identifier:

- Date of Interview:
- 1. I will introduce myself to the participant(s).
- 2. I will provide a copy of the consent form to each participant (s).
- 3. I will address contents, answer questions, and concerns of the participant(s).
- I will request permission to turn on the audio-recording device. Turn on the audiorecording device.
- 5. I will introduce participant(s) with pre-identified alias (*PR1, PR2*, etc.) and coded identification; will note the date and time on my notes.
- The interview question will begin with *PR1* and progress through on the final question until last participants are interviewed.
- I will follow up with additional questions and collect company documents related to the study.
- 8. I will end interview sequence and discuss member checking with the participant(s).
- 9. Will recap contact numbers for follow up questions and concerns from participants.
- At the conclusion of the interview, I will thank the participant(s) for their contribution to the study.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

1. From your experience, what symptoms do employees exhibit from information overload?

2. What methods do you use to recognize information overload on employees?

3. What strategies have you implemented to reduce employee information overload?

4. How did you address the key challenges to implementing your strategies for mitigating information overload in your organization?

5. How is the failure and success of strategies for mitigating information overload measured?

6. What strategies failed to mitigate the impact of employee information overload circumstances?

7. Based on your experiences, why did they fail?

8. What strategies were most successful in mitigating the impact of employee information overload?

9. Based upon your experiences, why were they successful?

10. What additional information would you like to provide about organizations strategies for reducing employee information overload that I have not already asked?